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our strategy

Our vision is to achieve and 
maintain leadership of the 
Jamaican Tobacco Industry 
in order to create long term 
shareholder value. 

Four elements around which 
all our efforts revolve 
are Growth, Productivity, 
Sustainability and a Winning 
Organization.

our Vision 
& Mission

We hold steadfast to the strategy of our parent company, British American 
Tobacco, in creating shareholder value, delivering profit growth and long term 
business sustainability. The four pillars of this strategy are Growth, Productivity, 
Sustainability and developing a Winning Organization.

GROWTH
British American Tobacco and its subsidiary companies, including Carreras, focuses 
on key strategic segments of the market that offer the best prospects for long term 
growth, including driving our premium segment. We also believe it is important to 
continue to develop and utilise innovative, differentiated products and offer our 
consumers added value from our brands.

PRODUCTIVITY
As a member of the British American Tobacco Group, our overall approach to 
productivity is about using our global resources to increase profits and generate 
funds for reinvesting in our business.

SUSTAInAbIlITY
We will continue to balance our commercial objectives with the expectations of a 
broad range of stakeholders, thus ensuring a sustainable business.

WInnInG ORGAnIZATIOn
We are confident in BAT’s strategies for Growth, Productivity and  Sustainability 
but to deliver our vision we must also have the right people and the right working 
environment. That is the essence of the Winning Organization strategy.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Fifty-Third Annual General Meeting of the Stockholders of CARRERAS LIMITED will be 
held at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, on Wednesday, September 2, 2015 at 2:00 p.m. 
for the following purposes:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements 
and the Reports of the Auditors and Directors 
for the year ended March 31, 2015

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

“THAT the Audited Financial Statements and the 
Reports of the Auditors and Directors for the year 
ended March 31, 2015 be and are hereby adopted.”

2. To appoint Auditors and authorise the 
Directors to fix the remuneration of the 
Auditors

 
To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

“THAT KPMG, Chartered Accountants, having 
agreed to continue in office as Auditors, be and are 
hereby appointed Auditors of the Company to hold 
office until the next Annual General  Meeting at a 
remuneration to be fixed by the Directors of the 
Company.” 

3. To elect Directors
a. The Directors due to retire in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 84 of the Articles of Association 
are Hon. William McConnell and Mrs. Amanda Cavill 
de Zavaley.  Hon. William McConnell does not 
offer himself for re-election. Mrs. Amanda Cavill de 
Zavaley, being eligible, offers herself for re-election. 

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

  “THAT Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley be and 
      is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

b. Mrs. Janene Shaw was appointed as a Director since 
the last Annual General Meeting of the Company and, 
being eligible, offers herself for election.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

 
“THAT Mrs. Janene Shaw be and is hereby elected a 
Director of the Company.”

4. To confirm the remuneration of the Non-
Executive Directors

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

“THAT the amount shown in the Financial  Statements 
of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2015 
for emoluments received by the Non-Executive 
Directors for their services as Directors be and is 
hereby approved.”

5. (i)  To approve and ratify dividends

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

“THAT the interim dividends of $1.75 paid on June 26, 
2014; $1.20 paid on Sept. 4, 2014; $1.20 paid on Dec. 11, 
2014 and $1.60 paid on March 12, 2015, making a total 
of $5.75 for the Year, be and are hereby ratified.”

(ii)  To ratify interim special capital cash  
      distributions: 

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

“THAT the interim special capital cash distributions 
of $1.34 paid on July 31, 2014 and $1.00 paid on Dec. 
18, 2014 be and are hereby ratified.”

6. To consider any other business which may 
properly be transacted at an Annual General 
Meeting.

By Order of the Board

_____________________
Janene Shaw 
Company Secretary

Registered Office: 13A Ripon Road, Kingston 5

May 27, 2015

Important Notice for Members who are not able to 
attend:

Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this 
meeting is also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend 
and vote in his/her stead. Such proxies need not be members of 
the Company. A suitable Form of Proxy is enclosed.

Form of Proxy must be lodged with the Registrar and Transfer 
Office, Sagicor Bank Corporate Trust Service Unit, 28 – 48 
Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5 not less than forty-eight (48) hours 
before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
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Registrar & Transfer Office
Sagicor Bank Corporate Trust 
Service Unit, 28 – 48 Barbados 
Avenue, Kingston 5

Corporate Data
Carreras limited
13A Ripon Road, Kingston 5
Telephone: 749 9800
Fax: 906 9284
E-mail: Carreras@bat.com
Website: www.carrerasltd.com

leadership Team
Marcus Steele  Managing Director
Janene Shaw  Finance Director
Christopher Brown Corporate and Regulatory Affairs Manager
Rohan Campbell  Acting Trade Marketing & Distribution Manager
Monique Blake  Human Resource Business Partner

Depots
35 1/2 Hagley Park Road, Kingston 10 
5 Oxford Park Avenue, Kingston 5
6 Allan Avenue, Port Antonio
1-2 Villa Road, Mandeville
74 Main Street, Ocho Rios
26 Humber Avenue, Montego Bay
Dunbar Plaza, Savanna-la-mar

board Of Directors
Oliver Holmes
Michael Bernard
Eduardo Castañeda
Amanda Cavill de Zavaley
Hon. William McConnell, O.J.
Janene Shaw
Marcus Steele

Company Secretary
Janene Shaw

Registered Office:
13A Ripon Road, Kingston 5 Auditors: KPMG

6 Duke Street, Kingston
bankers
The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica 
Limited
Scotiabank Centre
Cnr. of Duke & Port Royal Streets
Kingston
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Report to Stockholders
The year 2014-2015 was another 
good year of strong earnings 
for Carreras, despite difficult 
trading conditions. Weak domestic 
demand, low GDP growth and 
declining consumer and trade 
purchasing power all created 
significant challenges. Tobacco control 
regulations, including the public place 
smoking ban remained in effect 
and continued to present some 
challenges. However, the inherent 
strength of your business has kept 
your Company strong. Although our 
net profit of $2.94 billion showed a 
26.5% decrease when compared to 
the previous year, it must be noted 
that the prior year’s profit included 
income of $1.78 billion from a 
non-routine transaction (interest 
on tax recoverable from the CCJ 
settlement). Excluding this one off 
amount, our net profit increased 
over the previous year by 10%. This 
overall improvement in profit  from 
the core business activities is a clear 
indication of your Company’s focus 
on delivering sustainable earnings 
for our shareholders. We were 
therefore able to offer dividends 
of $8.09 per share, an increase of 
14.9%. Additionally, the Company 
continues to deliver superior value to 
our shareholders with total returns 
on shareholders equity increasing by 
35.4% over the prior year. 

Within this challenging business 
environment, your Company delivered 
operating revenues of $11.21 billion, 
representing an 8.4% increase 
compared to the prior year. Other 
operating income in the current 
period includes $357.6 million 
representing gain on disposal of 
property, plant & equipment.  This 
substantially relates to the sale 
of the Twickenham Park property 
which, shareholders would agree, 
was a significant event in the 
history of Carreras, being located 
there since our inception 53 years 
ago. The decision to relocate was 
consistent with Carreras’ shift 
from a manufacturing company 
to a marketing and distribution 
company, which naturally resulted 
in the Twickenham Park location, 
previously a manufacturing facility, 
being under-utilised and far 
exceeding our space requirement.  

Shareholders, management remained 
steadfast in managing the costs 
to the business and consequently, 
in the period under review, 
the cost containment strategies 
implemented led to a reduction 
in expenses of 4.2% that can be 
credited, in part, for our ability 
to offer dividend increases, and is 
especially commendable because 
it was achieved against an inflation 

rate of 4%. While cost of sales did 
increase by 11.4% over the prior 
year, this is directly attributable to 
the increase in volumes as well as 
higher purchase costs due to the 
devaluation of the Jamaican dollar 
against the United States dollar.

The Illicit trade remains a going 
concern for our business, but our 
6.1% increase in volumes driven 
by our flagship brand, Craven “A” 
indicates that some progress is being 
made in the authorities’ efforts to 
disrupt this illegal trade, with more 
contestable space being created for 
our brands.  We however continue 
to emphasize the need for greater 
cooperation and collaboration by 
all stakeholders to fight the illicit 
trade.  We also strongly believe 
that the Government cannot be 
solely focused on regulating and 
introducing draconian measures on 
the legal cigarette business, and 
this is why we support calls for the 
implementation of the Framework 
Convention on Tobacco Control 
(FCTC) Protocol to eliminate Illicit 
Trade in Tobacco Products. We 
therefore stand ready to work 
with the Government and all 
the relevant agencies (Customs, 
Jamaica Constabulary Force, Ministry 
of Finance and the Ministry of 
Health) in quickly implementing this 
Protocol. 

The Government and more 
specifically the Minister of Health, 
has committed to introducing other 
areas of tobacco control in line with 
its FCTC obligations. Shareholders, 
management has been advising 
all relevant stakeholders of the 
impending introduction of a raft of 
restrictive measures to regulate 
the advertising, promotion and 
sponsorship of cigarettes. Foremost 
and of serious concern to the 
Company however, is the Minister’s 
intention and drive to implement 
Article 5.3 of the FCTC which 
advocates for the exclusion of 
the tobacco industry from the 
entire regulatory process or from 
engagement with those authorities Carreras’ Team of Bikers
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tasked with regulating the tobacco 
industry.  The Company has however 
highlighted to the Government 
and publicly stated its intention to 
continue vigorously defending our 
right to freedom of expression, to 
petition governments on policy and 
regulatory matters, to protection of 
our intellectual property, and to due 
process. It should be noted that the 
FCTC does not advocate industry 
exclusion from the regulatory 
process or from engagement with 
those authorities tasked with 
regulating the tobacco industry as 
such exclusion is contrary to the 
better regulation principles of the 
United Nations that recommend the 
inclusion of all stakeholders in any 
regulatory process. Additionally, 
we need to also make it very clear 
that the WHO Guidelines for the 
implementation of Article 5.3 are 
not binding. These Guidelines 
contain no specific requirements 
with respect to government 
representatives holding meetings 
with the tobacco industry, and do 
not mandate a complete exclusion 
of the legitimate tobacco industry. 
Therefore, a significant part of our 
efforts have been and will continue 
to be focused on protecting the 
right as a Company to engage 
with key policy makers in ensuring 
that policy decisions are taken in 
a balanced way. We continue to 
state that Carreras is not opposed 
to Tobacco Regulations so long 

as they are balanced, practical 
and enforceable, as such, we will 
continue to run our business 
effectively, responding positively 
to balanced regulations while 
ensuring the responsible marketing 
and distribution of our cigarette 
brands. Throughout the year we 
continued programmes such as our 
Courtesy of Choice programme and 
outdoor smoking area initiatives 
which continue to garner positive 
responses from the customers with 
whom we partner, and consumers, 
and we have seen that these 
initiatives will contribute to our 
long-term success. 

Our stakeholders, and especially 
our customers and consumers, are 
an integral part of our business 
and even more so given the 
increasingly difficult economic and 
regulatory landscape. This is why 
our frontline activities, specifically, 
Trade Marketing and Distribution 
(TM&D), remain a top priority 
for the business. We continue 
to build our TM&D capabilities 
and competencies, augment our 
distribution model through the 
execution of our Route to Market 
distribution strategy, all the 
while enhancing mutually beneficial 
partnerships with our customers. 
Ensuring that our brands continue 
to have robust presence in the 
market place, and among our 
consumers, was a key highlight of 

our marketing strategy during the 
year. We continued to execute 
various promotional and brand 
sponsorship activities to create 
brand awareness and equity and 
reward consumer loyalty. Significant 
drive was placed behind our core 
brand Craven “A”, and in addition 
to executing various consumer 
engagement activities and national 
promotions to keep the brand 
relevant, the Company introduced 
a new variant, Craven “A” Special. 
Pall Mall also continued to play a key 
role in our commercial response to 
the growing illicit trade by ensuring 
its distribution and availability in 
areas of concentrated illicit activity. 

Raw tobacco cultivation continued 
to command the attention of 
management and in recent times, we 
have been endorsing the call by some 
local groups for the enforcement of 
the Tobacco Growing Act, which 
regulates the growing, cultivation and 
harvesting of tobacco. Our support 
for its enforcement is primarily 
driven by the fact that over the last 
3 years, there has been exponential 
growth in tobacco cultivation, and 
upon examining the conditions under 
which tobacco is being grown in 
Jamaica, we believe that it is in the 
best interest of all stakeholders, 
including the Government, for 
regulatory measures to be put in 
place. 
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Shareholders would have noted 
that the Company’s head office 
has been re-located to Ripon Road 
and our Sales depot to Hagley Park 
Road in Kingston following the sale 
of our Twickenham Park property. 
I want to take this opportunity 
to congratulate and thank the 
management and staff for the 
seamless relocation of the hub of 
our business and sales depot. The 
relocation exercise was no easy 
feat so I must acknowledge and 
commend the tremendous effort 
and cooperation from all staff in 
making this significant move, a 
successful one.

During 2014, our Chairman, Richard 
Lewis demitted office after serving 
more than three years.  We thank 
him for his years of excellent 
service during which he expertly 
guided the corporate governance 
and commercial activities of your 
Company. 

Gavin Jordan also resigned from 
the Company and the Board having 
served as Finance Director and 
Company Secretary, and so we take 
this opportunity to thank Gavin for 
his contribution to the business 
during his tenure. Gavin has been 
succeeded by Janene Shaw who 
joined Carreras as Finance Director 
and Company Secretary and was 
appointed to the board in May 2015. 
We welcome her and look forward 
to her contribution. 

Shareholders, while 2014 was 
a good year, it was no doubt a 
challenging one too, but I am 
confident that our management 
team and all our people are equal to 
the challenge in 2015 and beyond.  
Together, we will take advantage 
of all the opportunities available - 
new and existing, and continue to 
deliver strong profit and dividends 
for many more years. 

Your Company is resilient, fortified 
by an effective mix of good 
corporate governance, a clear and 
consistent strategy, and all told, 
excellent management, led by 
Managing Director, Marcus Steele, 
who on behalf of the Board, I want 

to specially congratulate for the 
recognition he received as the Top 
CEO in Jamaica for 2014 and third 
in the Caribbean by Business Suite 
Magazine. It must be noted, that this 
award was given for Marcus’ superb 
leadership in Carreras achieving 
the highest growth in net profit, 
2013 over 2014, of all Jamaican 
Companies on the Jamaican Stock 
Exchange. The Board believes that 
Marcus’ strong leadership, vision 
and determination in a period of 
significant change will continue to 
bode well for our Company.

I want to also commend Carreras’ 
staff for their remarkable 
performance, year after year, 
achieved by consistent hard work, 
dedication, loyalty and commitment 
to excellence.  Our recognition, 
nationally, of outstanding performance 
is directly attributable to our 
dedicated, motivated and highly 
skilled employees and so I take this 
opportunity to say thanks.  Thank 
you also to our customers and 
consumers for their unwavering 
support and partnership.  We are 
confident that our sustainability 
plans will keep us motivated, 
focused and successful. 

To my fellow Directors, thank you 
for your guidance, diligence and 
expertise as we continue to work 
together in guiding this great 
Company through rapidly changing 
times.

We affirm that each year is a new 
opportunity, a chance for a new 
beginning, and so we will continue 
to make every effort and seize 
every opportunity to make the 
best of it so that we can continue 
delivering superior returns to you 
our valued shareholders.  

Shareholders, we can be justly 
proud of our record of giving back 
to the communities in which we 
operate, and nation building all told. 
During the year we gave support to 
several community development 
programmes in areas such as 
agriculture and other education 
initiatives. Carreras continued to 
be at the forefront of organizations 
offering scholarships at the 
tertiary level, with our award of 
30 scholarships to students across 
varying fields of study, colleges 
and universities. We also offered 5 
National scholarships, which for the 
first time in the Company’s history, 
is an offer of a full scholarship at 
the undergraduate level for the 
duration of the selected awardees’ 
studies. Our commitment to 
empowering through education 
continues to be led by our desire to 
increase access to college, increase 
academic achievement through 
reducing the concerns of families 
and students about how fees will be 
paid, and importantly, help to retain 
high ability citizens in Jamaica.

Our bike-man programme, which is 
a key part of our Route to Market 
Strategy to increase our distribution 
coverage and serve areas previously 
not serviced directly- such as within 
inner-city communities, is another 
initiative which demonstrates 
our commitment to adding value 
to the communities in which we 
operate. Through this programme, 
we have been providing meaningful 
employment to several persons 
from economically depressed 
communities island-wide and 
providing them with training to 
be equipped for the job, and for 
the future, as skilled sales men and 
women. 

Your Company, for the fifth time, 
received the Best Performing 
Company Award and Second 
Runner-Up Award for Best Website, 
both from the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange.  These awards continue 
to demonstrate your Company’s 
consistent superb performance 
in delivering superior shareholder 
value and solidifies Carreras as a 
winning organization. 



1  Hon. William MCCONNELL 
Hon. William “Billy” McConnell, OJ, was appointed to the Board 
of Directors on February 6, 1997. He is a qualified Chartered 
Accountant and is a member of the Jamaican Institute of Chartered 
Accountants. He was previously the Managing Director of both 
Lascelles deMercado & Company Limited and Wray & Nephew 
Group Limited until his retirement in 2011. He has also served on 
many boards most notably as Chairman of both the Petroleum 
Corporation of Jamaica and Petrojam Limited and as a Director 
of the Sugar Industry Authority. He is Chairman of the Sugar 
Manufacturing Corporation of Jamaica Limited and is a Director 
of the Jamaica Observer Limited, Spirits Pool Association Limited, 
Caribbean Molasses Company Limited, Dolphin Cove Limited and 
the University Hospital of the West Indies – Private Wing Limited. He 
is the recipient of the Order of Distinction – Commander Class and 
the Order of Jamaica for outstanding services in the development 
of commerce and export (1996) and for distinguished leadership 
in Business and Export Industry (2006) respectively and conferred 
with the Honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws (LLD) in 2010.

5  Amanda Cavill DE ZAVALEY
Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley was appointed to the Board of 
Directors of Carreras Limited on November 8, 2012. She was until 
recently, the Head of Finance for BAT Caribbean and Central 
America. Amanda has had an extensive international career in 
BAT over the last 25 years, assuming the role of Finance Director 
in several markets including Venezuela, Bangladesh, Chile and 
Malawi. She was previously assigned to the BAT Caribbean and 
Central American Area as Area Head of Treasury and Projects in 
1997 and as Head of Finance of the Caribbean cluster during the 
period 1998-2002. Amanda is a qualified Chartered Management 
Accountant and has a Bachelor of Science degree in Management 
Science from the Loughborough University in the United Kingdom. 
She is a British National and is bilingual.

2  Oliver W. HOLMES
Mr. Holmes was appointed to the Board of Directors of Carreras Ltd. 
on February 6, 2007. He is Managing Director of Capital Options, a 
financial advisory firm he founded in 1997. Prior to establishing Capital 
Options, Mr. Holmes was the Chief Operating Officer of Manufacturers 
Merchant Bank Ltd. and prior to that Vice President of Citibank N. A. 
He served as a senior manager in virtually all aspects of Citibank and its 
subsidiaries operations in Jamaica, including Vice President - Corporate 
Finance, Financial Controller - Citibank Jamaica and its subsidiaries, 
Corporate Banking Group Head, Managing Director - Citifinance 
Limited, Manager - Centralized Operations and Chief Inspector for the 
Caribbean region. During his career at Citibank, he led or participated 
in many notable transactions in the Jamaican and international markets. 
In addition to Carreras Limited, Mr. Holmes sits on the Board of Allied 
Insurance Brokers Limited. He graduated from the University of the 
West Indies with a B.Sc. degree in Management Studies (Hons.) and 
a M.Sc. degree in Accounting.  He is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Jamaica. Mr. Holmes’ hobbies are cricket, 
golf, squash, running and reading. 

6  Eduardo CASTAÑEDA
Mr. Eduardo Castañeda was appointed to the Board of Directors of 
Carreras Limited on November 6, 2013. He is currently the Legal and 
External Affairs Director for British American Tobacco Caribbean 
and Central America (BATCCA). Eduardo, a Colombian national, first 
joined the BAT group in 1997 and since then, has held several senior 
management positions in Marketing and Corporate and Regulatory 
Affairs across various Central American Markets including El Salvador, 
Guatemala and Costa Rica. In 2007, he assumed the position as Country 
Manager for Honduras and Guatemala, and in 2011, he was seconded for 
2 years as General Manager for the Caucasus. Eduardo enjoys spending 
time with his family, travelling, learning about new cultures, socializing 
and the arts.

1 2 3 4

BoARD of DiReCToRS



4  Marcus STEELE
Mr Marcus Steele currently serves as Managing Director of Carreras 
Limited. He graduated from St. Jago High School and is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant and has a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accounting from the University of the West Indies and a Master 
of Business Administration from Florida International University. 
Mr. Steele also completed an Executive Programme in General 
Management at the Harvard Business School. Mr. Steele first joined 
Carreras Group Limited in the Company’s Tobacco division,Cigarette 
Company of Jamaica Limited, in the capacity of the Company’s 
Management Accountant in April 1998. In June 1999, he was promoted 
to Finance Planning Manager and later appointed Marketing Finance 
Manager in June 2001. In May 2002, Mr. Steele was appointed Finance 
Planning Manager for Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited with 
overall responsibility for management of Marketing and Operations 
Finance. In March 2004, Mr. Steele was seconded to British American 
Tobacco Caribbean and Central America’s Area Office in Costa 
Rica as the Country Readiness Manager for the Caribbean with 
the responsibility for leading the migration of the Caribbean legal 
entities into the regional shared service centre. In July 2005, he 
was appointed Finance Planning and Reporting Manager for BAT’s 
operations in the Caribbean and Central America where he focused 
on financial reporting, strategy and planning. Mr. Marcus Steele 
was then appointed to the Carreras Board of Directors on October 
1, 2007 and served as Finance Director and Company Secretary up 
until August 2011 when he was seconded to the Trinidad branch of 
another BAT Company, Carisma Marketing Services Limited, in the 
position of Country Manager with responsibility for the general 
management of the Company’s businesses across 24 markets in the 
English, French and Dutch Caribbean. Mr. Steele serves as a Director 
on the Board of Proven Wealth , formerly known as First Global 
Financial Services. He enjoys reading, dancing, cricket, football and 
athletics and has two children, son, Marquis and daughter, Sonique.

7  Michael BERNARD

Mr. Michael Bernard first joined Carreras Group Limited in 1988 and 
in 1991 he was appointed General Manager of the Jamaica Biscuit 
Company. In 1995 he assumed concurrently, the positions of 
Managing Director of two subsidiaries; the Cigarette Company of 
Jamaica Limited and Agricultural Products of Jamaica Limited. In 1997, 
he was appointed to the Carreras Board of Directors until 2000 when 
he was seconded to the USA subsidiary of British American Tobacco, 
Brown and Williamson Tobacco Corporation. He regained leadership 
of the Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited at the end of 2001 and 
was re-appointed to the Board of Carreras Group Limited in 2004. 
In 2005, he was appointed Managing Director of Carreras Limited, 
the role he held until retirement in 2010. Michael currently serves as 
Executive Chairman of Peak Bottling Company Limited and Chairman 
of Spike Industries Limited. He also serves on the Board of Directors 
of Salada Foods Limited, GK General Insurance Company Limited, 

3  Janene SHAW
Mrs. Janene Shaw joined Carreras Limited as Finance Director and 
Company Secretary and was appointed to the Board of Directors 
on May 27, 2015. She is a qualified Chartered Accountant with a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from the University of the 
West Indies, Mona. She has over 25 years’ experience and a proven 
track record in financial management, accounting and auditing. 
Janene was previously employed at J. Wray & Nephew Limited / 
Lascelles deMercado & Co. Limited where she held various senior 
finance positions being General Manager Finance & Administration 
– JWN Agricultural Division, Group Financial Officer and the most 
recent being Accounting and Treasury Director.  In the role of 
Accounting & Treasury Director, she had responsibility for Financial 
Accounting, Treasury & Credit and maintained relationships 
with external stakeholders such as financial institutions, auditors, 
actuaries, tax advisors and certain government institutions. Prior 
to that, she was employed at PriceWaterhouseCoopers where she 
gained progressive audit experience to the level of Audit Manager. 
In that capacity she had responsibility for planning and executing 
audits in various sectors including manufacturing, financial services 
and certain specialized industries. Janene is a Member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica and also of the Association 
of Certified Chartered Accountants in the U.K. She is currently a 
trustee of the Lascelles deMercado Defined Contribution Fund. 
She enjoys athletics, cricket, spending time with family and has an 
interest in the different cultures of the world. Janene is married to 
Ewan and they have two daughters, Kristen and Justine.

New Transport Group Limited and Sterling Investments Limited. He 
is a graduate of Jamaica College where he serves as Chairman of the 
Board of Management. He holds a Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of 
Science summa cum laude degrees in Business Administration and 
Forest Management respectively, from Washington State University, 
and a Master of Business Administration from the Harvard Graduate 
School of Business Administration. Michael is the 2010 recipient 
of the Carlton Alexander Award for Excellence and is also a Fellow 
of the Jamaica Institute of Management. He is a philanthropist, a 
former national youth cricket representative, a significant owner 
and breeder of thoroughbred horses and is the 2012 Leading Owner 
of Thoroughbred Horses in Jamaica.

5 6 7
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The Directors are pleased to submit their Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended  March 31, 2015. The following 
are selected highlights:

Directors’ Report

Dividends and Distributions
The following payments were made during the year:
 First quarter ended June 30, 2014        - $1.75 per stock unit (Ordinary)   
 Second quarter ended September 30, 2014    - $1.34 per stock unit (Interim special capital cash distribution)
       - $1.20 per stock unit (Ordinary)
 Third quarter ended December 31, 2014  - $1.20 per stock unit (Ordinary)
       - $1.00 per stock unit (Interim special capital cash distribution)
 Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2015  - $1.60 per stock unit (Ordinary)

No further final dividend payment is proposed in respect of 2014 /2015.
The Directors have approved an interim dividend of $2.00 per stock unit, to be paid on June 25, 2015.

Auditors
KPMG have expressed their willingness to continue in office and offer themselves for re-appointment.

Directors
Messrs. Richard Lewis and Gavin Jordan resigned and the Board wishes to express its appreciation to them for their invaluable 
contribution to the Company. 

Mrs. Janene Shaw was appointed on May 27, 2015 and, being eligible, offers herself for election.

The Directors due to retire in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association are Hon. William McConnell and 
Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley. Hon. William McConnell does not offer himself for re-election. Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley, being 
eligible, offers herself  for re-election.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

.............................................
Janene Shaw 
Secretary

Financial Results
Year ended 

March 31, 2015 
$000s

Year ended 
March 31, 2014

$000s
Profit before income taxation amounted to: 3,938,362       5,184,471
Income tax for the year 
Total profit after tax 2,942,960 4,003,175
Less: minority interest
Net profit for the year attributable to stockholders 2,942,914 3,999,992
Revenue reserves at beginning of year 4,050,807 1,669,080
Total revenue reserves 6,993,721 5,669,072
Appropriations have been made as follows:
Dividends and Distributions
Deferred tax on reserves of subsidiaries in liquidation 59,073
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/losses, net of tax
Transfers - 1,870,762
Transfer tax
Distribution to non-controlling interests 3,499 1,400

Earnings per stock unit for year: 
Normal operations 606.24¢ 547.85¢
Non-routine transactions  - 276.15¢

606.24¢ 824.00¢

              (995,402)

(46)

(3,930,709)

(37,650)

(59,860)

            

              (1,181,296) 

(3,183)

(3,418,898)
(30,504)

(16,950)

(24,075)

        3,028,074 4,050,807



11
New Beginnings...Annual Report 2015

Ten Largest Stockholders 

Stock units held
Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited 244,650,826
Sagicor PIF Equity Fund 26,917,975
National Insurance Fund 21,966,721
L.B.J. Overseas Limited 10,053,450
SJIML A/C 3119 9,279,436
JCSD Trustee Services Ltd. – SIGMA OPTIMA 6,485,000
GraceKennedy Ltd. Pension Scheme 5,850,062
Cheston Jamaica Limited 5,112,736
NCB Insurance Co. Ltd. A/C WT109 4,750,000
ATL Group Pension Fund Trustees Nominees Ltd. 4,300,000
Total 339,366,206

Stock Units Held
Mr.   Michael Bernard Nil
Mr.   Eduardo Castañeda Nil
Mrs. Amanda Cavill de Zavaley  Nil
Mr.  Oliver Holmes        Nil
Hon. William McConnell, O.J. Nil
Mr.   Marcus Steele Nil

There has been no change in the Directors’ stockholding interests occurring 
between the end of the Company’s financial year and the date of the Notice 
convening the Annual General Meeting.

At no time during or at the end of the financial year has any Director had any 
material interest in any contract or arrangement in relation to the business 
of the Company.

Directors’ stockholding as at 
March 31, 2015

as at March 31, 2015
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Board Mission
The Board of Directors is 
collectively responsible for the 
success of the Company.

The board remains committed to 
providing entrepreneurial leadership 
of Carreras within a framework 
of prudent and effective controls 
which enables risk to be assessed 
and managed. The board is 
responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s strategic aims; ensuring 
that the necessary financial and 
human resources are in place for 
the Company to meet its objectives; 
and reviewing management’s 
performance. The board also upholds 
the Company’s values and standards 
and ensures that its obligations to 
the Company’s shareholders and 
others are understood and met.

Responsibilities of 
Board Members 
(Chairman, Non-
executive Directors, 
Company Secretary)
There is a clear division of 
responsibilities at the head of the 
Company between the running 
of the board and the executive 
responsibility for the running of 
the Company’s business.  No one 
individual has unfettered powers of 
decision.

Chairman
The Chairman is responsible for 
leadership of the board, ensuring 
its effectiveness in all aspects of 
its role and setting its agenda. 
The chairman is also responsible 
for ensuring that the directors 
receive accurate, timely and 
clear information. He also ensures 
effective communication with 
shareholders. 

Non-executive Directors
As part of their role as members 
of a unitary board, non-executive 
directors constructively challenge 
and help develop proposals on 
strategy. Non-executive directors 
also scrutinise the performance of 
management in meeting agreed 
goals and objectives and monitor 
the reporting of performance. 
They ensure the integrity of 
financial information and that 
financial controls and systems of 
risk management are robust and 
defensible. 

Directors can obtain independent 
professional advice in the course 
of their duties, if necessary, at the 
Company’s expense.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary plays a 
key role in assisting all directors to 
obtain the information they need 
to carry out their roles effectively.  
She is responsible for ensuring that 
board processes and procedures 
are appropriately followed and 
that they support effective 
decision making and governance 
in accordance with the Companies 
Act. 

Appointments to the 
Board
There is be a formal, rigorous and 
transparent procedure for the 
appointment of new directors to 
the board.

Appointments to the board are 
made on merit and against objective 
criteria. Care is also taken to ensure 
that appointees have enough time 
available to devote to the job. 
This is particularly important in the 
case of chairmanship. The board 
also satisfies itself that plans are 
in place for orderly succession for 
appointments to the board and 

to senior management, so as to  
maintain an appropriate balance 
of skills and experience within the 
Company and on the board.

election & Re-election
All directors are submitted for 
re-election at regular intervals, 
subject to continued satisfactory 
performance. The board ensures 
planned and progressive refreshing 
of the board.

independence of 
Directors
Independence is based on criteria 
agreed by the Board and includes:

 � a  Director that has not within 
the last three years been an 
employee of the Company or a 
related Company;

 � a  Director that has not within 
the last three years had a material 
business relationship with the 
Company either directly or as a 
shareholder, director or senior 
employee of a body that has a 
relationship with the Company 
either as a supplier, a customer 
or competitor of the Company;

 � a  Director that has not within 
the last three years received 
additional remuneration from 
the Company (apart from a 
director’s compensation) nor 
participated in the Company’s 
performance-related pay scheme;

 � a  Director whose spouse, child(ren) 
or dependent(s) are not advisors, 
directors or senior employees of 
the Company;

 � a   Director who does not represent 
a significant shareholder.

The Board is not aware of any 
relationships or circumstances 
affecting the Directors’ independent 
judgement.

Corporate Governance 
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Board Committees

Audit Committee
The board has established formal 
and transparent arrangements 
for considering how they should 
apply the financial reporting and 
internal control principles and 
for maintaining an appropriate 
relationship with the Company’s 
auditors.

The main role and responsibilities of 
the audit committee include:

 � to monitor the integrity of 
the financial  statements  of  
the    Company, and any for-
mal announcements relating 
to the Company’s financial 
performance, reviewing sig-
nificant financial reporting 
judgements contained in them;

 � to review the Company’s inter-
nal financial controls and, unless 
expressly addressed by a sepa-
rate board risk committee com-
posed of independent directors, 
or by the board itself, to review 
the Company’s internal control 
and risk management systems;

 � to monitor and review the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal audit function;

 � to make recommendations 
to the board, for it to put 
to the shareholders for their 
approval in general meeting, in 
relation to the appointment, 
re- appointment and removal 
of the external auditor and 
to approve the remuneration 
and terms of engagement 
of the external auditor;

 � to review and monitor the  
external auditor’s indepen-
dence and objectivity and 
the effectiveness of the audit 
process, taking into consid-
eration relevant professional 
and regulatory requirements;

 � to develop and implement 
policy on the engagement 
of the external auditor to 
supply non-audit services, 
taking into account relevant 
ethical guidance regarding the 

provision of non-audit services 
by the external audit firm; and to 
report to the board, identifying 
any matters in respect of 
which it considers that action 
or improvement is needed 
and making recommendations 
as to the steps to be taken;

 � the audit committee should 
review arrangements by which 
staff of the Company may, 
in confidence, raise concerns 
about possible improprieties in 
matters of financial reporting 
or other matters. The audit 
committee’s objective should be 
to ensure that arrangements are 
in place for the proportionate 
and independent investigation 
of such matters and for 
appropriate follow-up action;

 � the audit committee should 
have primary responsibility 
for making a recommendation 
on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal 
of the external auditors.

The audit committee of the board 
comprises three members who 
are non-executive directors, the 
majority of whom is identified 
by the board as independent 
Directors.At least one member of 
the audit committee has recent 
and relevant financial experience. 

Meetings of the Audit 
Committee
The Chairman of the audit committee, 
in consultation with the Company 
Secretary, decides the frequency 
and timing of its meetings. 

Four (4) meetings are held during 
the year to coincide with key 
dates within the financial reporting 
and audit cycle.  The Company’s 
external audit lead partner is invited 
regularly to attend the meetings. 

The audit committee met with 
the external auditors, without 
management, to discuss matters     
relating to its remit and any 
issues arising from the audit.

Relationship with the Board
The role of the audit committee is 
for the board to decide and to the 
extent that the audit committee 
undertakes tasks on behalf of the 
board, the results are reported to, 
and considered by, the board. In 
doing so, it identifies any matters 
in respect of which it considers that 
action or improvement is needed, 
and makes recommendations as to 
the steps to be taken. The audit 
committee should review annually 
its terms of reference and its own 
effectiveness and recommend any 
necessary changes to the board. 

The Committee members are:  

     Oliver Holmes (Chairman), 

     Michael Bernard.  

A vacancy was created by the 
resignation of Mr. Richard Lewis 
during the year.

nomination & 
Compensation Committee
The main role and responsibilities of 
the nomination and compensation 
committee include:

 � To determine the framework 
and policy on terms of en-
gagement including the spe-
cific conpensation of each 
executive director and each  
member of the Senior Manage-
ment Team [“Leadership Team”] 
of the Company, including enti-
tlements, where applicable, un-
der any share incentive schemes 
and the pensions schemes and 
any compensation payments.

 � To make recommendations to the 
board on suitable candidates for 
appointment as board directors 
and to make recommendations 
to the board as to the suitability 
of candidates for appointment 
as executive directors of the 
Company.

Fees payable to non-executive 
directors are determined by the 
main board on the recommendation 
of the chairman and chief executive. 
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The Committee is authorized by the 
board to obtain at the Company’s 
expense such outside legal or other 
independent professional advice 
as it considers necessary and, in 
particular, is responsible for the 
appointment of any compensation 
consultants, Executive Recruitment 
& Placement Services [head-hunters] 
or any other professional service 
provider who may advise the 
Committee. Where such consultants 
are appointed, the Committee 
is required to make available a 
statement of whether they may 
have any other connections with 
the Company.

Meetings of the Nomination 
and Compensation Committee
The Committee was appointed by 
the board on September 8, 2009 
and comprises three members. The 
quorum is three and in the absence 
of a member, he will select another 
director to be his alternate at the 
meeting. The Chairman and the 
Managing Director of Carreras 
Limited are required to attend 
meetings of the Committee on 
the occasion of a discussion of 

compensation and to discuss the 
performance of the Executive 
Directors and other members of the 
Senior Management Team [except 
when their own compensation is 
under review], and to make proposals 
as appropriate.

Relationship with the Board
The Committee shall make 
recommendations to the board in 
specific regard to the re-appointment 
of any Non-executive Director at the 
conclusion of their spe cified term of 
office after reviewing the Director’s 
performance; the re-election by 
shareholders of any director under the 
retirement or by rotation provisions 
in the Company’s Articles of 
Association; and the continuation in 
office of any Director at any time.

The Committee members are:  

     Hon. William McConnell, O.J.,          
     Eduardo Castaneda and 
     Oliver Holmes.

Please note that our Corporate Governance 
guidelines are available on our website at  
www.carrerasltd.com.

Meeting Attendance of Directors
Name of Director Board Audit

Michael Bernard 7 4

Eduardo Castañeda 7 n/a

Amanda Cavill De Zavaley 6 n/a

Oliver Holmes 7 4

William McConnell 7 n/a

Marcus Steele 7 4

Number of meetings held in Financial Year:
Board 7
Audit Committee 4

our Standard of 
Business Conduct
Our Standards of Business Conduct 
express the high standards of business 
integrity that British American Tobacco 
(BAT) requires from employees 
worldwide. As a member company of 
the BAT group, Carreras Limited and 
its employees are expected to comply 
with these standards. 

The Standards of Business Conduct set 
out specific guidelines which provide 
support and guidance for employee 
conduct. Whistle blowing procedures 
are also put in place so that any 
employee who suspects wrongdoing 
can raise his/her concern in confidence. 

The Standards cover four broad 
areas which govern general business 
conduct, as well as provide guidance 
for employees in making appropriate 
decisions and judgements in the course 
of work.  These areas are: 

 � Personal and Business Integrity; 

 � Public Contributions; 

 � Corporate Assets and Financial 
Integrity; 

 � National and International Trade. 

Each employee is expected to know, 
understand and practice the standards, 
as appropriate, and review and sign 
in accordance with the policy, on an 
annual basis.
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Directors Hon. William McConnell, O.J., Michael Bernard and Oliver Holmes converse at the official opening of the Carreras Head 
Office.



16
New Beginnings...Annual Report 2015

Ten-Year financial Review
CARRERAS lIMITED & ITS SUbSIDIARIES      
FINANCIAL YEAR

2014 /15 2013/ 14
Restated
2012 / 13 2011 /12 2010 /11 2009/ 10

Restated 
2008/ 09 2007 /08 2006 /07 2005 /06

Profit & Loss Summary
Gross Operating Revenue 11,208,369 10,342,006 12,241,512 11,022,746 12,935,692 10,410,178 10,923,530 9,037,241 7,005,159 6,955,087
Trading  Profit 3,804,121 3,199,787 3,844,022 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 3,379,964 3,591,008

Income From Non Routine Transactions  -  1,787,365 5,083,600  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total Trading Profit 3,804,121 4,987,152 8,927,622 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 3,379,964 3,591,008 
Investment & Interest Income 146,141 174,719 158,294 125,672 138,890 269,142 599,027 690,841 657,919 825,485
Operating Profit 3,950,262 5,161,871 9,085,916 3,562,830 4,430,094 3,783,285 5,381,996 5,827,735 4,037,883 4,416,493
Employee Benefit Income 22,600 363,400 550,400 711,200 694,900  -  -  - 
Restructuring Costs  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Profit Before Taxation 3,938,362 5,184,471 8,852,816 3,926,230 4,980,494 4,494,485 6,076,896 5,827,735 4,037,883 4,146,834 
Profit After Taxation 2,942,960 4,003,175 6,234,234 2,597,220 3,314,076 3,001,875 4,093,911 4,000,020 2,766,915 3,033,553
Profit Attributable To Stockholders 2,942,914 3,999,992 6,234,059 2,597,229 3,314,097 3,001,869 4,093,682 3,999,018 2,765,947 3,032,067

Balance Sheet Summary
Fixed Assets 248,256 204,632 158,650 145,150 140,190 114,724 101,915 79,945 83,560 105,636
Share Capital 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360
Reserves 3,050,396 4,073,129 3,562,164 2,818,195 3,210,417 2,669,801 3,472,034 7,768,667 6,642,746 6,315,453
Stockholders’ Equity 3,171,756 4,194,489 3,683,524 2,939,555 3,331,777 2,791,161 3,593,394 7,890,027 6,764,106 6,436,813 

Financial Ratios
Trading Profit Margin 33.9% 30.9% 31.4% 31.2% 33.2% 33.8% 43.8% 56.8% 48.2% 51.9%
Operating  Profit/Operating Revenue 35.2% 32.6% 32.7% 32.3% 34.2% 36.3% 49.3% 64.5% 57.6% 63.5%
Stockholders’ Return On Equity 92.8% 95.4% 169.2% 88.4% 99.5% 107.5% 113.9% 50.7% 40.9% 47.1%
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from normal operations) 606.24¢ 547.85¢ 551.16¢ 535.03¢ 682.7¢ 618.3¢ 843.2¢ 823.8¢ 570.1¢ 498.9¢
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from non-routine transactions) - 276.15¢ 733.05¢ - - - - - - -
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from discontinued operations) - - - - - - - - (0.3)¢ 125.7¢
P/E RATIO 6.6 4.3 4.1 11.8 8.9 7.8 4.4 8.9 8.7 5.5
Distribution - Per Stock Unit 809¢ 704¢ 1179¢ 560¢ 500¢ 700¢ 1,630¢ 540¢ 490¢ 860¢

Other Data
Share Capital
- Stock Units In Issue (‘000) 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440
Closing Stock Price ($) - March 31 39.97 35.51 52.92 63.00 60.51 48.50 37.76 73.51 49.61 34.40
Dividend Paid 3,930,709 3,418,898 5,723,338 2,718,464 2,427,200 3,398,080 7,912,672 2,621,376 2,378,656 4,174,784
Depreciation Charged 65,887 50,556 46,616 55,349 48,884 40,833 25,081 22,555 24,913 34,529
Exchange Gain / (Loss)  45,591  88,953  160,582  19,369 4,945 209,967 167,855 124,087 345,731
Weighted Average Exchange Rates:
US$ 1 to J$  115.0435  109.5744  98.8865  87.3000  85.7486  89.5082  88.8158  71.0888  67.8003  65.4951

(11,900) (233,100)

(all figures expressed in thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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FINANCIAL YEAR
2014 /15 2013/ 14

Restated
2012 / 13 2011 /12 2010 /11 2009/ 10

Restated 
2008/ 09 2007 /08 2006 /07 2005 /06

Profit & Loss Summary
Gross Operating Revenue 11,208,369 10,342,006 12,241,512 11,022,746 12,935,692 10,410,178 10,923,530 9,037,241 7,005,159 6,955,087
Trading  Profit 3,804,121 3,199,787 3,844,022 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 3,379,964 3,591,008

Income From Non Routine Transactions  -  1,787,365 5,083,600  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total Trading Profit 3,804,121 4,987,152 8,927,622 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 3,379,964 3,591,008 
Investment & Interest Income 146,141 174,719 158,294 125,672 138,890 269,142 599,027 690,841 657,919 825,485
Operating Profit 3,950,262 5,161,871 9,085,916 3,562,830 4,430,094 3,783,285 5,381,996 5,827,735 4,037,883 4,416,493
Employee Benefit Income 22,600 363,400 550,400 711,200 694,900  -  -  - 
Restructuring Costs  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Profit Before Taxation 3,938,362 5,184,471 8,852,816 3,926,230 4,980,494 4,494,485 6,076,896 5,827,735 4,037,883 4,146,834 
Profit After Taxation 2,942,960 4,003,175 6,234,234 2,597,220 3,314,076 3,001,875 4,093,911 4,000,020 2,766,915 3,033,553
Profit Attributable To Stockholders 2,942,914 3,999,992 6,234,059 2,597,229 3,314,097 3,001,869 4,093,682 3,999,018 2,765,947 3,032,067

Balance Sheet Summary
Fixed Assets 248,256 204,632 158,650 145,150 140,190 114,724 101,915 79,945 83,560 105,636
Share Capital 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360
Reserves 3,050,396 4,073,129 3,562,164 2,818,195 3,210,417 2,669,801 3,472,034 7,768,667 6,642,746 6,315,453
Stockholders’ Equity 3,171,756 4,194,489 3,683,524 2,939,555 3,331,777 2,791,161 3,593,394 7,890,027 6,764,106 6,436,813 

Financial Ratios
Trading Profit Margin 33.9% 30.9% 31.4% 31.2% 33.2% 33.8% 43.8% 56.8% 48.2% 51.9%
Operating  Profit/Operating Revenue 35.2% 32.6% 32.7% 32.3% 34.2% 36.3% 49.3% 64.5% 57.6% 63.5%
Stockholders’ Return On Equity 92.8% 95.4% 169.2% 88.4% 99.5% 107.5% 113.9% 50.7% 40.9% 47.1%
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from normal operations) 606.24¢ 547.85¢ 551.16¢ 535.03¢ 682.7¢ 618.3¢ 843.2¢ 823.8¢ 570.1¢ 498.9¢
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from non-routine transactions) - 276.15¢ 733.05¢ - - - - - - -
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from discontinued operations) - - - - - - - - (0.3)¢ 125.7¢
P/E RATIO 6.6 4.3 4.1 11.8 8.9 7.8 4.4 8.9 8.7 5.5
Distribution - Per Stock Unit 809¢ 704¢ 1179¢ 560¢ 500¢ 700¢ 1,630¢ 540¢ 490¢ 860¢

Other Data
Share Capital
- Stock Units In Issue (‘000) 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440
Closing Stock Price ($) - March 31 39.97 35.51 52.92 63.00 60.51 48.50 37.76 73.51 49.61 34.40
Dividend Paid 3,930,709 3,418,898 5,723,338 2,718,464 2,427,200 3,398,080 7,912,672 2,621,376 2,378,656 4,174,784
Depreciation Charged 65,887 50,556 46,616 55,349 48,884 40,833 25,081 22,555 24,913 34,529
Exchange Gain / (Loss)  45,591  88,953  160,582  19,369 4,945 209,967 167,855 124,087 345,731
Weighted Average Exchange Rates:
US$ 1 to J$  115.0435  109.5744  98.8865  87.3000  85.7486  89.5082  88.8158  71.0888  67.8003  65.4951

 (269,659)

 (48,911)
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Leadership Team

1 2 3
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Rohan CAMPBELL 
BSc. (Hons), MBA (Dist.)

Acting Trade Marketing & 
Distribution Manager

Janene SHAW
BSc; FCA 

Finance Director

Marcus STEELE
Bsc., ACCA, CA, MBA, GMP (HBS)

Managing Director

Christopher BROWN
M.Phil; BSc. (Hons) ; Dip Inter. Rels. (Dist.)

Corporate & Regulatory Affairs 
Manager

Monique BLAKE
AAS (Hons); BBA (Hons); MBA
Human Resource Business 

Partner

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

4 5
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1.
Leadership Team (cont’d)

2. Janene SHAW (Finance Director)

Janene joined Carreras Limited as Finance Director and Company Secretary and was appointed to the Board of Directors 
on May 27, 2015. She is a qualified Chartered Accountant with a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from the 
University of the West Indies, Mona. She has over 25 years’ experience and a proven track record in financial management, 
accounting and auditing. Janene was previously employed at J. Wray & Nephew Limited / Lascelles deMercado & 
Co. Limited where she held various senior finance positions being General Manager Finance & Administration – JWN 
Agricultural Division, Group Financial Officer and the most recent being Accounting and Treasury Director.  In the role 
of Accounting & Treasury Director, she had responsibility for Financial Accounting, Treasury & Credit and maintained 
relationships with external stakeholders such as financial institutions, auditors, actuaries, tax advisors and certain 
government institutions. Prior to that, she was employed at PriceWaterhouseCoopers where she gained progressive 
audit experience to the level of Audit Manager. In that capacity she had responsibility for planning and executing audits 
in various sectors including manufacturing, financial services and certain specialized industries. Janene is a Member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica and also of the Association of Certified Chartered Accountants in 
the U.K. She is currently a trustee of the Lascelles deMercado Defined Contribution Fund. She enjoys athletics, cricket, 
spending time with family and has an interest in the different cultures of the world. Janene is married to Ewan and they 
have two daughters, Kristen and Justine.

3.

Rohan CAMPBELL (Acting Trade Marketing & Distribution Manager)

Rohan Campbell became a member of the Carreras Team in December 2011 as Area Sales Manager and in November 
2014, was promoted to Acting Trade Marketing & Distribution Manager. Before joining Carreras, Rohan was Business 
Unit Manager at HD Hopwood & Company Limited where he was responsible for the development of the van sales 
selling strategy which led to the increased distribution and exhibition of products. Between 2005-2009, as part of an 
accelerated development program, Rohan was rotated between four companies of the GraceKennedy Group - Grace 
Food Services Ltd, World Brand Services, Dairy Industries Jamaica Ltd. and Hardware & Lumber Ltd. A past student of 
St. George’s College, he holds a BSc, in Management Studies and an MBA from the University of the West Indies, Mona.  
Rohan is a part-time lecturer at the University of Technology, specializing in Marketing.  In addition to an interest in 
finance, Rohan enjoys exercising, travelling, reading, experimenting with different cuisines/food, and is a lover of 
nature.

Marcus STEELE (Managing Director)

Mr Marcus Steele currently serves as Managing Director of Carreras Limited. He graduated from St. Jago High School 
and is a qualified Chartered Accountant and has a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting from the University of the 
West Indies and a Master of Business Administration from Florida International University. Mr. Steele also completed 
an Executive Programme in General Management at the Harvard Business School. Mr. Steele first joined Carreras Group 
Limited in the Company’s Tobacco division, Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited, in the capacity of the Company’s 
Management Accountant in April 1998. In June 1999, he was promoted to Finance Planning Manager and later appointed 
Marketing Finance Manager in June 2001. In May 2002, Mr. Steele was appointed Finance Planning Manager for Cigarette 
Company of Jamaica Limited with overall responsibility for management of Marketing and Operations Finance. In March 
2004, Mr. Steele was seconded to British American Tobacco Caribbean and Central America’s Area Office in Costa Rica 
as the Country Readiness Manager for the Caribbean with the responsibility for leading the migration of the Caribbean 
legal entities into the regional shared service centre. In July 2005, he was appointed Finance Planning and Reporting 
Manager for BAT’s operations in the Caribbean and Central America where he focused on financial reporting, strategy 
and planning. Mr. Marcus Steele was then appointed to the Carreras Board of Directors on October 1, 2007 and served 
as Finance Director and Company Secretary up until August 2011 when he was seconded to the Trinidad branch of 
another BAT Company, Carisma Marketing Services Limited, in the position of Country Manager with responsibility for 
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4. Christopher BROWN (Corporate & Regulatory Affairs Manager)

Christopher joined Carreras Limited in 2009 as the Corporate and Regulatory Affairs Manager. He has more than 9 
years experience at the Senior Management level within the Government of Jamaica. Prior to joining Carreras, he 
worked as an Advisor to the Minister of National Security, where among other things, he had direct responsibility for 
coordinating the work of the Ministry of National Security in relation to its International Obligations with such bodies 
as the United Nations and CARICOM and other international organizations and missions. Christopher has also held the 
position of Policy Director for Electoral and Parliamentary Affairs in the Government of Jamaica, between 1998 and 
2001. He has done research for the CARICOM Secretariat and has been a Tutor in the Department of Government at 
the University of the West Indies since 1998. Currently, he serves as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Caymanas 
Track Limited and has also served as the Chairman of the Board of Cumberland High School. Over the past year, he 
has also assumed the responsibility for managing the regulatory and reputational portfolio for eleven (11) markets in 
the Northern Caribbean for another British American Tobacco Company, Carisma Marketing Services Limited. He has 
also acted as Company Secretary for Carreras Limited and has additional business interests in the Micro-Financing 
Sector. He is a graduate of Calabar High School and holds a Master of Philosophy Degree and a Post Graduate Diploma 
in International Relations from the Institute of International Relations in Trinidad and Tobago, as well as a Bachelor 
of Science Degree in Management and Economics from the University of the West Indies, Mona. He is married to 
Sandra Johnson-Brown and together they have a son, William. He enjoys watching and playing cricket, lawn tennis and 
swimming.

5.

the general management of the Company’s businesses across 24 markets in the English, French and Dutch Caribbean. 
Mr. Steele serves as a Director on the Board of Proven Wealth, formerly known as First Global Financial Services. He 
enjoys reading, dancing, cricket, football and athletics and has two children, son, Marquis and daughter, Sonique. 

Monique BLAKE (Human Resource Business Partner)

Monique  joined Carreras in May 2015 as the Human Resource Business Partner. Monique has more than 15 years 
experience in financial services and human resource management and brings with her a wealth of diverse experience 
in the field of Administration and Human Resources Management. Having led the human resources management and 
development functions in several organizations, Monique has garnered significant experience in talent acquisition and 
retention, industrial relations, training, development and performance management, rewards and recognition, payroll, 
re-structuring and compensation and benefits.    She holds a Bachelor of Business Administration with a concentration 
in Business Management (Hons) and an Associate of Applied Science in Accounting (Hons) from Monroe College in 
New Rochelle, New York.  Monique also holds a Master of Business Administration in Human Resources Management 
from the University of New Haven in Connecticut and is a member of the Human Resource Management Association of 
Jamaica (HRMAJ). Monique is an avid reader who enjoys travelling, surfing the internet and exploring new recipe ideas. 
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis

Dear Shareholders

Your Company performed creditably 
during the 2014-2015 year through 
revenue growth, cost containment 
and marketing strategies that 
delivered the right results to ensure 
a sustainable path to growth.  We 
continued to devise strategies 
catering to the evolving needs 
of our customers and consumers, 
including those needs related to 
managing legislation changes, with 
these strategies so far yielding the 
desired results.   

Against an environment with significant 
challenges, including adverse exchange 
rate movements and increasingly 
competitive industry dynamics, the 
Company managed to grow sales 
volume by 6.1% in 2014. Operating 
Revenue also increased over the 
prior year by 8.4%, up from $10.34 
billion to $11.21 billion. This was due 
mainly to the increase in volumes, 
driven by our flagship brand Craven 
“A”.
 
The major risk to the business 
continues to be the illicit trade fuelled 
by an increasingly difficult macro-
economic environment, increasing 
taxation on legitimate cigarette 
brands and the consequential strain 
on our consumers’ pockets. The 
result of this is a demand for low 
priced cigarettes that do not pay 
the requisite duties or taxes.  We 
however continue to engage the 
Government and other relevant 
authorities such as the Jamaica 
Customs Department, The Jamaica 
Constabulary Force, the Bureau 
of Standards and the Jamaica 
Intellectual Property Office to 
implement measures and initiatives 
to disrupt this illicit trade. Gains 
have been made from these 
engagements as seen with the 

Marcus Steele
Managing Director

Managing Director’s overview
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increase in sales volume in 2014 and 
we are assured that these efforts 
will continue to prove beneficial to 
both Carreras and Jamaica. 

Internally, we are also seeing results 
from our own commercial strategies 
to respond to some consumers’ 
needs for a lower priced cigarette 
offer. Our Pall Mall brand is 
playing a key role in serving as a 
more affordable alternative to 
our core brands, particularly in 
areas identified as having a higher 
concentration of illicit cigarette 
brands. 

Our distribution model is also 
continuously evolving with focus 
being placed on our Route to 
Market strategy for increasing 
our distribution coverage and 
directly serving areas not previously 
accessed by our sales vans. Our bike-
man programme is leading the way 
in this regard and is so far delivering 
significant and positive results. 

We also continued monitoring the 
growing, cultivation and sale of 
raw tobacco, and from what has 
been observed, we too support 
the call from several quarters for 
the Government to regulate this 
rapidly expanding sector.  In fact, 
the antiquated Tobacco Growing 
Act of 1972, must be reviewed and 
amended to effectively respond to 
this phenomena. 

2014 was also a year of adjustment 
and adaptation for Carreras as it 
was the first full year of operations 
in a new regulatory environment 
particularly as the amendments to 
the Public Health Tobacco Control 
Regulations were gazetted and 
became effective during the year. 
We introduced Graphic Health 
warnings on our cigarette packs and 
continued to work with customers 
and consumers in the adherence of 
the public place smoking restrictions. 
We have ensured compliance with 
the tobacco regulations in every 
aspect of our operations and are 
confident that with the preparations 
being made in anticipation of a 

new phase of regulations, which 
will entail a ban on our advertising, 
promotions and sponsorships, our 
business will be resilient. 

Shareholders, by now you are 
aware that in March 2015, the 
Government imposed an increase in 
the Special Consumption Tax (SCT) 
on cigarettes from $10.50 per stick 
of cigarette to $12.00 per stick. In 
light of this increase, the Company 
implemented a price increase on 
all its cigarette brands. While we 
understand the Government’s need 
to raise revenues through increasing 
taxes, we continue to remind them 
of the deleterious effect frequent 
and excessive excise increases can 
have in fuelling an already growing 
illicit trade. We have therefore 
expressed to the Government, the 
need for continued partnership 
and consultation with them on 
issues affecting our business such 
as taxation and the importance 
of ensuring reasonable levels and 
timing of these excise increases. 

Most of our shareholders know by 
now that we have moved our head 
office and Twickenham Park Sales 
Depot to Kingston. Our operating 
income received a significant boost 
from this move in the amount of 
$357.6 million, representing a gain 
on disposal of property, plant & 
equipment. I want to however say 
to all our stakeholders, that we 
are grateful for the support we 
received from the Spanish Town 
Community throughout the 53 
years we were located in the town, 
which has no doubt been a key 
factor in our success. Nonetheless, 
we want to assure our shareholders, 
customers, consumers and the 
wider Jamaica, that from our new 
locations, we remain committed 
to delivering the same outstanding 
level of service, offering the same 
high quality tobacco products, as 
well as giving back to Jamaica as 
we have been doing since 1962.

Our corporate social responsibility 
focus, “Empowering through 
Education”, continued in 2014.  

We awarded 30 scholarships, 
valued at over $3.5 million as your 
Company made its contribution to 
the achievement of Jamaica’s 2030 
Vision of a “place of choice to live, 
work, raise families and do business” 
through providing access to tertiary 
education. We also continued to 
positively impact the communities 
in which we operate through 
providing meaningful employment 
and training of persons from volatile 
communities employed for our 
Bike man distribution programme. 
Resources were also directed towards 
various community development 
programmes island-wide. 

During the year, British American 
Tobacco’s (BAT) strategies for a 
sustainable business were rolled out 
in Jamaica by the Carreras Leadership 
Team, ending in commitment by our 
employees to a 5-year plan, crafted 
to build a sustainable organization 
through the achievement of key 
strategic objectives and priorities.  
Our implementation of succession 
planning processes, work life 
balance initiatives coupled with our 
scrupulous recruitment programmes 
create the right environment for 
the execution of the 5-year plan and 
will ensure that we continue to have 
the right people in the right roles in 
delivering our strategic agenda.

Shareholders, we approach the 
future with confidence, and with 
the knowledge that although 
Jamaica is on a growth path, economic 
recovery is fragile.  With our high 
quality brands, talented, dedicated 
and innovative staff, we are well 
positioned to achieve success. We 
will continue to rely on the support 
of all our stakeholders as we move 
forward. We thank our staff, 
customers and consumers for their 
unwavering support as we continue 
to look ahead to a brighter future.

Marcus Steele
Managing Director
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financial Results

The Company delivered a strong financial performance 
for the year ended March 31, 2015, achieving growth 
in revenues, profit from core business activities and 
earnings per stock from normal operations.

For the 2014/ 2015 financial year, the Company returned 
operating revenues of $11.21 billion, an increase of 8.4%, 
compared to $10.34 billion in the prior year.  Profit after 
tax for the period decreased by 26.5%, from $4.00 
billion to $2.94 billion, whilst profit after tax from 
underlying business increased by 10%.

Last year’s profit after tax included income of $1.78 
billion, from a non-routine transaction (interest on tax 
recoverable from the CCJ settlement). Excluding the 
impact of this transaction, the resulting profit after 
tax from underlying business totaled $2.66 billion in 
2013/ 2014. This compares to a profit after tax from 
underlying business of $2.94 billion achieved in the 
current period; an increase of 10%.  Note that there was 
no income from non-routine transactions recorded in 
the current period. 

Other operating income in the current period includes 
$357.6m, representing gain on disposal of property, 
plant & equipment.  This substantially relates to the 
sale of the Twickenham Park property. 

The overall improvement in profit from core business 
activities continues to demonstrate the Group’s focus 
and commitment on achieving sustainable long term 
earnings for shareholders.

Dividends totaling $3.93 billion (2014: $3.42 billion) 
were paid to shareholders in the current period, 
representing $8.09 per share (2014: $7.04 per share), 
an increase of 14.9%. Dividends for the current period 
were comprised of ordinary dividends totaling $2.79 
billion or $5.75 per share and special distributions of 
$1.14 billion or $2.34 per share.  Special distributions 
were paid from reserves created from the CCJ  tax 
settlement.

Profit and Loss Analysis

Operating Revenue

The Group’s operating revenue increased year over 
year by 8.4%, from $10.34 billion to $11.21 billion. This 

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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was due mainly to an increase in volumes, driven by our 
flagship brand Craven “A”. In the prior year, volumes 
and consequently operating revenues were negatively 
impacted by tobacco regulations which were legislated 
during that year. 

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales amounted to $5.87 billion, an 11.4% 
increase compared to $5.27 billion recorded in prior 
year. This is in direct correlation with volume increases 
as well as the impact of higher purchase costs due 
to the devaluation of the Jamaican dollar against the 
United States dollar.

Operating Expenses

Benefits accruing from the cost reduction exercise 
that commenced during the previous financial year and 
continued into the current period, resulted in a 4.2% 
decrease in expenses. This reduction was achieved against 
the background of a macroeconomic environment 
where the Jamaican Dollar devalued against the United 
States Dollar by 7.8% and also an inflation rate of 6.4%.  
This demonstrates the Group’s continued focus on cost 
containment to engender maximum shareholder value.

Interest and Investment Income

Investment income earned by the Group declined by 
16%, compared to the prior year. This decline is directly 
attributable to the reduction in general market rates 
during the period. The strategy is to maintain an optimal 
investment mix to maximize return on funds and to ensure 
that working capital needs are adequately covered.

Balance Sheet Review

Assets

The Group’s current assets decreased by 12.2%, 
compared to the prior year.  This was due mainly to 
the receipt of a significant portion of the tax refund 
and interest from the CCJ tax settlement. Additionally, 
trade receivables decreased by 28.7% over the prior 
year in line with expectations.  The receivables balance 
in the prior year reflected efforts to manage the impact 
of impending changes in the regulatory environment. 
Inventories also decreased, this by 36% as a result of 
the higher sales generated by the price increase.

Non-current assets reduced by $45.1 million or 8.1%; 
increases in property, plant and equipment were offset 
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by the reduction in employee benefits asset.  The 
majority of the capital expenditure for 2015 related to 
the corporate and sales offices which were relocated 
to the Kingston & St. Andrew Metropolitan area during 
the year. 

Credit Risk

The Group continued to aggressively manage its credit 
risk and maintained a strong, liquid working capital 
base.  Cash at bank and held in short term deposits saw 
a 15.6% year over year increase. The counterparty risk 
is continually and rigorously assessed by Management 
and the Board.

liabilities

Total liabilities increased by 6.7% compared to the prior 
year, due mainly to the growth in accounts payable. The 
increase in General Consumption Tax (GCT) payable 
arising from higher sales generated in March 2015 
as well as the timing of payments to creditors, were 
significant contributors to the overall increase.
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis

The world of business continues 
to be characterized by increased 
volatility, uncertainty, complexity 
and ambiguity. Despite tough market 
conditions in 2014,  characterized by 
a difficult economic environment, 
a challenging regulatory landscape 
and an active illicit trade, the 
tobacco industry remains vibrant 
and promising. Trade Marketing 
& Distribution (TM&D) continued 
to lead the charge in unlocking 
value through a focus on improved 
productivity and effective engagement 
with our trade partners.

Being at the forefront of the business 
and as a critical contributor to the 
achievement of Carreras’ Strategic 
Agenda, we continue to strive to be 
consumer-led and customer centric 
in our approach. TM&D’s efforts for 
2015 will therefore be focused on 
distribution excellence by ensuring 
our brands are well represented 
in all relevant channels, profitably 
leveraging our relationships with 
our business partners whilst finding 
innovative means to impact our 
consumers.  

Our initiatives for 2015 are centered 
on a focus on the fundamentals of 
excellence in execution and will seek 
to drive the business’s performance 
through emphasis on:

1. Capabilities & Competences: 
Ensuring we have a “fit for 
purpose” team with cutting 
edge skillsets and field force 
execution to deliver sustainable 
competitive advantage for 
Carreras. We believe in having 
the right people in the right 
roles with strong leadership to 
realize and develop optimum 
potential.

2. Route to Market (R2M):  
In order to deliver against our 
productivity and value growth 
agendas, we continue our focus 
on ensuring alignment bet- 
ween our distribution structure, 
market needs and our need 
for long term sustainable 
competitive advantage. We will 
increasingly use our R2M strategy 
to ensure optimal placement 
of our products in the hands of 
our valued consumers, providing 
the appropriate speed and scale, 
whilst minimizing our cost to 
serve. This will ensure our brands 
are appropriately represented 
in the relevant points of 
sales (POS) and channels. We 
will use a mix of distribution 
models, including our motorbike 
project which continues to add 
value, drive profitability and 
positively impact the lives of 

parties involved, especially 
in economically depressed 
communities. 

3. Shopper Marketing: Point 
of Sale (POS) engagement 
and communication remain 
pivotal parts of our drive to 
break through the clutter at 
the POS ensuring our continued 
relevance during shopper/
consumer moments. We strive 
to break through the ‘clutter’ by 
being disruptive and innovative 
in our engagement in order to 
continually excite our consumers 
at the POS. We will continue 
to deepen and leverage our 
understanding of our consumers 
and shoppers to be better able 
to respond to the changing 
regulatory and market dynamics 
of the tobacco retail trade. 

4. Customer Management: 
Carreras recognizes the value 
of our key trade partners and 
acknowledges the pivotal role 
they play in our success. TM&D 
will continue to engage so 
that we add value to our trade 
partners, always ensuring a 
mutually beneficial partnership. 
Through tapping into our 
customer base, we deepen our 
understanding of the market 
landscape and of the various 
elements of our supply chain, 
allowing us to be better able to 
respond and position ourselves 
in a changing market.

Carreras Limited has faced and 
overcome challenges in our 53 year 
history. Where many saw obstacles 
we at Carreras saw opportunities to 
innovate and rethink our approach. 
TM&D will continue its drive to 
create value for all our stakeholders 
by advancing our growth and 
sustainability agenda. 

Trade Marketing & Distribution

Carreras Trade Marketing Representatives conducting routine stock and dispenser 
checks.

Marketing
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During  2014, our marketing agenda 
was geared towards supporting the 
intrinsic uniqueness of our brands, 
recognizing the need to place focus 
on promoting the diversity of our 
offerings.  Consequently, there 
was a drive behind our innovative 
variant - Matterhorn “Click and On” 
as well as the introduction of Craven 
A “Special” to the Jamaican tobacco 
market. These two variants of our 
iconic brands allowed us to better 
cater to the unique preferences 
of an evolving consumer profile 
in the local tobacco industry. We 
recognized the need for products 
that reflected the diverse, dynamic, 
vibrant and exciting culture of our 
Jamaican consumers. Offering new 
products encouraged our customers 

Brand Marketing

to step outside of the box along the 
same trajectory of our marketing 
strategies. The combination of 
print and trade activities, used 
in our communication campaign, 
was pivotal to the maintenance of 
our brand equity and loyalty. This 
focus facilitated a superb year 
for a number of our brands and 
contributed to an excellent full year 
performance. 

The Craven “A” and Matterhorn 
trademarks continue to be the 
majority of our consumers’ choice 
brands. The execution of national 
promotions such as “Scratch 
& Win” and “Money Roll Out” 
contributed to keeping these 
brands relevant and enhanced their 

status as acknowledged leaders of 
the tobacco market. Our appealing 
and stimulating brand activations 
allowed us to have robust presence 
at every event, allowing our 
consumers to experience the 
vibrancy and passion with which 
our brands are associated. Many of 
our engagements, at street dances 
and Round Robins , also allowed our 
brands to connect to the distinct 
genuine lifestyle of our core 
consumers.

The year also saw stable performance  
of our core premium segment, 
Rothmans, Dunhill and Newport 
brands. Their superior, sophisticated 
attributes continue to resonate 
with our consumers and the solid 

Revolutionary Distinct

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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showing for these brands was 
particularly positive in the face of 
competition from other premium 
brands in the market. Through the use 
of effective and original activations, 
we will continue to bring these 
world-class, high quality premium 
options to our consumers, tapping 
into this category’s potential. 

In its third year, Pall Mall 
has experienced growth in a 
progressively competitive environ-
ment. Its strategic placement 
within areas of concentrated illicit 
activity has shown evidence of our 
product recapturing sales from the 
illicit trade. This brand offers an 
inexpensive, quality substitute for 
our consumers who seek a more 

affordable option as they  remain 
loyal to the Carreras portfolio. 

Like any other business, we aim 
to maintain and increase our 
market share. Despite the current 
economic climate and impending 
comprehensive tobacco marketing 
restrictions, we will continue to 
make strides in rolling out tactful 
and creative marketing strategies 
to deliver outstanding performance 
and profitability. The move of our 
offices from Twickenham Park 
to the business hub of Jamaica, 
Kingston, is in line with our plans 
to implement new monumental 
strategies, safeguarding an 
optimistic future for all our brands. 
As our market grows darker with 

the imminence of more restrictive 
tobacco control regulations, we 
will continue striving to bring 
dynamism to the brands, while 
maintaining our commitment to 
strict, self-regulated, responsible 
marketing, as we sustain leadership 
of the Jamaican tobacco industry 
and remain competitive in the 
local Fast moving Consumer Goods 
(FMCG) market. 

Bold Iconic
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With the introduction, passage 
and ultimate amendment of the 
Public Health Tobacco Control 
Regulations 2013, the period under 
review represented the first full 
year for both the Company and 
the public to adjust to the reality 
of the new regulatory operating 
environment. Though there were 
significant challenges for the 
Company during the initial period 
following the announcement of 
the regulations, management was 
prepared and actively executed 
a massive and comprehensive 
communications campaign for the 
introduction of Graphic Health 
Warnings on all our cigarette packs 
prior to the effective date of April 
2014. Quite importantly, led by the 
Managing Director, the Company 
also executed a detailed and well-
coordinated process of effectively 
managing the supply chain to ensure 
that there was no major production 
related write offs flowing from the 
introduction of the new labelling 
and packaging requirements of 
the regulations. The Company 
also maintained its interaction and 
communication with its customer 
base, its consumers and the wider 
public - even after the regulations 
came into effect. This ensured that  
there was full understanding of 
the new regulatory landscape and 
that the Company settled down 

quickly following the  initial concerns 
surrounding the announcement by 
the Minister of Health.

It is also important to note, that 
Jamaica since the introduction of 
the Regulations, has become a point 
of significant focus from both the 
local tobacco control community, 
and very critically, the major global 
and regional health organizations, 
namely the Pan American Health 
Organisation (PAHO), the World 
Health Organization (WHO) led by its 
Framework Convention on Tobacco 
Control (FCTC) Secretariat. In fact, 
during the period under review, the 
Ministry of Health received high 
level visits from senior leaders in 
the WHO- FCTC Secretariat and 
the PAHO, and a major workshop 
was held to review the process of 
implementing the first phase of the 
regulations and to assess and plan 
for the next phase. 

Jamaica’s Minister of Health also 
received formal recognition and 
was given a special award at both 
the PAHO and WHO for his role in 
tobacco control efforts in Jamaica. 
Additionally, both the Ministry of 
Health and the various tobacco 
control NGOs received significant 
donations and project funding to 
continue their work in Jamaica. 

The truth therefore is that the local 
regulatory environment continues 
to be very active and dynamic, and 
in fact, the Company is now actively 
preparing for a rigorous next phase 
of regulations. In September 2014, 
the Bureau of Standards of Jamaica 
issued a draft set of standards for 
public comment which proposes 
to ban the promotion, advertising 
and sponsorship of cigarettes. On 
analysis, the draft document is 
very imbalanced and raises several 
issues that move beyond the remits 
of tobacco control and borders on 
the very commercial and business 
ethos of the society. The Company 
submitted an initial feedback to this 
draft and is presently preparing to 
challenge these new proposals once 
they remain in the anti-business 
form that they currently are. 

The Company in its pronouncement 
continues to advise the Government 
that we are not opposed to 
regulations - in fact we understand 
the obligations to do so under the 
FCTC, but we believe regulations 
should be balanced, practical and 
fair. We also will reject any effort 
to exclude the industry from the 
process to develop tobacco policy 
as we believe its good governance 
to do so and we subscribe to 
the United Nations Charter that 
promotes this practice. 

The Regulatory environment  

1. Outdoor billboard creating awareness of the penalty associated with selling illicit cigarettes
2. A Tobacco field

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Tobacco Regulations 
Phase 2 
As we have been advising 
Shareholders, the Government is 
presently involved in a compre-
hensive process to introduce 
another set of tobacco control 
measures, and essentially to create 
one omnibus tobacco control bill, to 
house all regulations.  

The next phase will include: 
 � Ban on Advertising
 � Ban on Promotions 
 � Ban on Sponsorships
 � Exclusion of tobacco companies 

from Policy development  
 � Introduction of an Illicit Trade 

Protocol 
 � Laws to limit interaction of 

government officials with tobacco 
industry officials

We are once again concerned as 
a Company, that the Minister of 
Health may move to unilaterally, 
and similar to his actions with the 
last set of regulations, introduce 
this next phase by Ministerial 
decree. The Company has therefore 
formally written to the Minister to 
remind him of his commitment to 

the Parliament to bring all new laws 
for its review and ultimately a vote 
before those proposals become 
law. The Company is however 
ready and is preparing to vigorously 
defend its rights as a legal company 
and against the passage of any 
measure or law that would seek to 
marginalize its commercial right or 
seek to undermine its legitimacy 
as a legal enterprise. We stand 
ready to work with the authorities 
in a balanced way to continue the 
introduction of regulations that are 
fair, practical and all told, represent 
good law. 

Raw Tobacco Cultivation 
The Company notes the call by 
certain local groupings for the laws 
relating to the growing, cultivation 
and harvesting of tobacco growing 
to be enforced. The Management 
has indeed been on record 
supporting such calls on the basis 
of the massive growth in tobacco 
cultivation over the last few years 
and the conditions observed being 
employed within that process. We 
are also aware of the efforts by the 
Government to tighten the also 

growing importation and inflow of 
raw tobacco into the country and 
we urge that there be a balanced 
and fair application of the new tax 
regime announced 2 years ago to all 
participants, both locally and those 
importing raw tobacco for sale and 
consumption. 

We ultimately believe that as per 
the call from other quarters, the 
overall regulating of this growing 
phenomenon will be best served 
with the enforcement of the local 
Tobacco Growing Act by the 
Government. Indeed, the Company 
strongly supports any process that 
seeks to bring greater order to the 
local growing, cultivation and sale 
of raw tobacco. 

excise 
In March 2015, the Company had to 
undertake a price increase following 
the Government’s imposition of an 
increase in the special consumption 
tax (SCT) by an additional $1.50. 
The SCT now stands at $12.00 per 
stick of cigarette. The management 
has therefore continued its efforts 
to highlight and caution of the link 
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between the rise in the illicit trade 
of cigarettes and the frequency and 
rate of tobacco taxation. Jamaica 
remains a significant market for 
the illicit traders and though we 
understand the revenue position 
of the Government, there must be 
some amount of caution as there 
are unintended consequences of 
excessive levels of tobacco taxation.  

Illicit Trade 
The Company continues to execute 

a very robust mass media and 
public education campaign to 
both the Trade and the public at 
large regarding the illicit trade in 
cigarettes. We are very pleased 
with the efforts within the period 
under review of both the Jamaica 
Customs Department and the 
Jamaica Constabulary Force to 
institute measures and activities to 
disrupt the supply chain of the illicit 
trade. We continue to reiterate that 
the fight must be transnational in 
nature, and as such, the authorities 
must engage their regional law 

enforcement counterparts to stem 
the shipment and cross border 
trade activities of the illegal traders. 
The Management stands ready to 
continue working both locally and 
to give global support to the work 
of the law enforcement authorities 
in the effort to stem the tide and 
trade in illicit cigarettes. We also 
support and call on the Government 
to implement the FCTC’s Protocol 
on eliminating the Illicit Trade 
with the same focus and drive 
it currently gives to introducing 
tobacco control regulations. 
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Since 1962, Carreras has engaged 
in strong corporate social 
responsibility practices, focusing 
on activities that support economic 
growth, social improvements 
and environmental protection.  
Our initiatives surrounding crime 
prevention, reforestation, arts and 
culture and adult education are 
all designed to contribute to the 
sustainability of the communities in 
which we operate and assist families 
and communities to improve their 
prospects of a brighter future, 
expanding opportunity.

More recently, our focus has been 
on empowering young adults 
through our scholarship programme, 
the hallmark of Carreras’ social 
investments.  Through the programme, 
scholarships are awarded to students 
who are both academically gifted 
and in need of financial assistance 
at the tertiary level each year. 

For the academic year 2014/ 
2015, Carreras awarded a total 
of 30 scholarships valued at over 

$3.5 million, including: seven 
bursaries, seven Teachers’ College 
Scholarships, seven Community 
College Scholarships, five National 
scholarships, which for the first 
time in the Company’s history, is 
an offer of a full scholarship at the 
undergraduate level for the duration 
of the selected awardees’ studies; 
and four visual and performing arts 
scholarships, all out of an application 
pool of over three hundred.  

Through our scholarship programme, 
Carreras continues to demonstrate 
its commitment, as a responsible 
corporate citizen, in helping to 
create a Jamaica that is the “place of 
choice to live, work, raise families and 
do business”, as stated in Jamaica’s 
national Vision 2030 document. 
Our objectives are to increase  
access to college, increase academic 
achievement through reducing the 
concerns of families and students 
about how fees will be paid and 
importantly, help to retain high 
ability citizens in Jamaica.

Corporate Social Responsibility

A significant aspect of our corporate 
social responsibility approach is our 
role in local communities.  Despite 
the challenges and complexities 
involved, we have a deliberate 
strategy of recruiting delivery 
personnel who operate motor 
bikes from some of Jamaica’s 
toughest inner cities.  Through this 
partnership, we are able to raise 
living standards for these economic 
partners and their families. 
We believe this programme 
increases company loyalty and 
creates shared value.  We believe 
that corporate success and social 
welfare relate; resulting in the 
Company operating in a better 
society. 

Throughout the year, we also 
continued our support for several other 
community development projects in 
areas such as sustainable agriculture 
and education. 

1. Carreras 2014 Scholarship Awardees pose with Managing Director, Marcus Steele (centre)
2. Ashleigh-Ann Arnold ( centre) poses with members of the Carreras Bursaries Selection Committee, Kay-Ann Henry(left) of the 

UWI and Garcia Green-McLennon, Director of Student Financing at the University of Technology, Jamaica. 
3. Marcus Steele, Managing Director of Carreras presents the inaugural National Scholarship Award to one of five recipients, 

Shannon Sherifa Johnson, student of the University of the West Indies.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Human Resources

There is nothing more important than 
having the right people, creating the 
right environment and constantly 
building the right capabilities by 
developing people and establishing 
processes and systems to support 
execution. The emphasis of the 
Human Resources Department for 
2014 continued to be one that 
was focused on the alignment of 
the Human Resources functions, 
with that of the Company’s, to 
execute strategies. Understanding 
the Company’s strategy to deliver 
shareholder value and the ability 
to develop competencies through 
processes, technology and people, 
has been essential in ensuring 
that our Human Resources is 
aligned vertically and horizontally 
to produce superior results. This 
has enabled our human capital to 
improve decision making, people 
outcomes, processes as well as 
profits.

High Performance 
Leadership
Carreras Limited continued to be 
a winning organization with great 

1. The Carreras team at the launch of British American Tobacco Caribbean and Central America’s (BATCCA) “Going Beyond”  
Strategic Leadership Agenda.

2. Carreras Managing Director, Marcus Steele in his opening remarks at the start of the launch.
3. Carreras Corporate & Regulatory Affairs Manager, Christopher Brown tries out for the Karaoke competition!

people, great teams and a great 
place to work and this was evident in 
our numerous people achievements. 
Our proactive approach to managing 
and developing talent resulted 
in timely hires to fill positions 
that became vacant in Finance 
and Marketing. This grew out of 
opportunities afforded to our local 
talent pool, which embarked upon 
short and long term international 
assignments. Proper planning, helpful 
feedback to staff and pre-empting, 
provided our employees with the 
necessary tools to help drive 
continuous improvements and in 
turn increased and compounded 
our Company’s odds of success.

Your Voice Survey
The results of our bi-annual 
employee “Your Voice” survey which 
provides a basis for measuring gaps 
through staff-related feedbacks 
were expressively encouraging and 
highlighted that we are going in the 
right direction.  When compared 
to our 2012 results, there were 
significantly higher scores in most 
areas, to include some noteworthy 

developments in People Leadership, 
Growth, Developing Talent and 
Teamwork just to name a few.

This favourable scoring filtered 
down to reflect an increased 
rating of (+6) in our Employee 
Engagement Index which is the 
extent to which employees thrive 
at work and are committed to 
their employer and are motivated 
to do their best for the benefit of 
themselves and their organization. 
There was also a remarkable increase 
of (+18) in our High Performance 
Index that reflected an improved 
employee experience and business 
performance.

As we continue to improve our 
employee engagement and support 
the need for higher performance 
and deliverables, we will continue 
to build a stronger talent succession 
pool, by strengthening talent acquisition 
and drive employee engagement 
through high performance leadership.

Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Relocation & Staffing
The mettle of our team was 
tested as we relocated our offices 
from Twickenham Park to two 
locations in Kingston, namely 13A 
Ripon Road and 35 1/2 Hagley Park 
Road, during the 2014 fiscal year. 
The cohesiveness, resilience and 
togetherness of our team made this 
possible and revealed how much 
of a winning organizational culture 
we have fostered and what a great 
team we have at Carreras Limited.

focus for 2015/2016
The HR team’s 2015 key areas of 
focus, among others, will include:

1. Ashleigh Arnold, Corporate & Regulatory Affairs Executive, accepts the 2nd Runner- Up, Best Practices Website Award, from Mr. 
Livingston Morrison, Director of the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

2. Gavin Jordan (Left), Finance Director, Carreras, accepts the award for Best Performing Company for 2013 from Allan Lewis, 
Chairman of the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

Talent Management
 � Proactive Talent Management 

aimed at attracting, developing 
and retaining the next generation 
of leaders who are empowered 
and accountable and able to 
support our Local Leadership 
Team

 � Enhance and leverage a diverse 
talent pool

High Performance
 � Supporting and rewarding out-

standing performances driven 
by leaders who provide stretch 
and support

 � Creating an engaging environment 
where individuals and teams are 
successful.

Winning Organization Culture
 � A culture that is centered on 

our Guiding Principles: Strength 
from Diversity, Open-Minded, 
Freedom through Responsibility, 
Enterprising Spirit.

 � Consistently contributing and 
communicating to our employees 
on our Strategic Leadership Agenda/ 
Line of Sight.

1 2
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As a commercial enterprise, Carreras 
Limited’s primary role is to build 
long-term shareholder value by 
meeting consumers’ preferences 
for high quality tobacco products. 
However, our Company cannot 
operate in isolation from the 
expectations of a broader range of 
stakeholders and it is by successfully 
balancing these expectations, that 
we are best placed to continue 
building a sustainable business.

We believe in the Business Principles 
of British American Tobacco which 
seek to capture the key topics 
that underpin Corporate Social 
Responsibility for a multinational 
tobacco business. They also address 
the issues that are important to 
stakeholders, including those who 
criticise tobacco products and 
the industry. Indeed, our Business 
Principles aim to cover all the issues 
that we must balance across our 
business. 

There are three Business Principles: 
Mutual Benefit, Responsible Product 
Stewardship and Good Corporate 
Conduct, each of which is supported 
by a series of Core Beliefs, which 
explain what the Principle means in 
more detail. 

The Principle of Mutual 
Benefit
The principle of Mutual Benefit 
is the basis on which we build our 
relationships with our stakeholders. 
We are primarily in business to 
build long term shareholder value 
and we believe the best way to do 
this is to seek to understand and 
take account of the needs of all our 
stakeholders.

Core Beliefs:
 � We believe in creating long term 

shareholder value
 � We believe in engaging con-

structively with our stake- 
holders

 � We believe in creating inspiring 

working environments for our 
people

 � We believe in adding value to 
the communities in which we 
operate 

 � We believe that suppliers and 
other business partners should 
have the opportunity to benefit 
from their relationship with us

The Principle of 
Responsible Product 
Stewardship
The principle of Responsible 
Product Stewardship is the basis on 
which we meet consumer demand 
for a legal product that is generally 
accepted as a cause of serious 
diseases.

Core Beliefs:
 � We believe in the provision of 

accurate, clear health messages 
about the risks of tobacco 
consumption

 � We believe the health impact 
of tobacco consumption should 
be reduced whilst respecting 
the right of informed adults to 
choose the products they prefer

 � We believe that relevant and 
meaningful information about 
our products should continue to 
be available

 � We believe that underage 
people should not consume 
tobacco products

 � We believe that our brands and 
products should be marketed 
responsibly and directed at 
adult consumers

 � We believe in the appropriate 
taxation of tobacco products 
and the elimination of illicit 
trade

 � We believe in regulation that 
balances the interests of all 
sections of society, including 
tobacco consumers and the 
tobacco industry

 � We believe that public smoking 
should be approached in a way 
that balances the interests of 
smokers and non-smokers

The Principle of Good 
Corporate Conduct 
The principle of Good Corporate 
Conduct is the basis on which all 
our businesses should be managed. 
Business success brings with it an 
obligation for high standards of 
behaviour and integrity in everything 
we do and wherever we operate. 
These standards should not be 
compromised for the sake of results.

Core Beliefs:
 � We believe our businesses 

should uphold high standards of 
behaviour and integrity

 � We believe that high standards 
of corporate social responsibility 
should be promoted within the 
tobacco industry

 � We believe that universally 
recognised fundamental human 
rights should be respected

 � We believe the tobacco 
industry should have a voice in 
the formation of government 
policies affecting it

 � We believe in achieving world 
class standards of environmental 
performance

our Business Principles
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of 
CARRERAS LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of Carreras Limited (“the company”) and the consolidated 
financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries (“the group”), set out on pages 40 to 79, which 
comprise the group’s and the company’s statements of financial position as at March 31, 2015, the 
group’s and the company’s statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Jamaican Companies Act, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether or not the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence relating to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity's 
preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of 
CARRERAS LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the financial statements of Carreras Limited (“the company”) and the consolidated 
financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries (“the group”), set out on pages 40 to 79, which 
comprise the group’s and the company’s statements of financial position as at March 31, 2015, the 
group’s and the company’s statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Jamaican Companies Act, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether or not the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence relating to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity's 
preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Year ended March 31, 2015

3
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended March 31, 2015  

 Notes 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 

Operating revenue 4 11,208,369 10,342,006 

Cost of operating revenue  (  5,867,203) (  5,268,780) 

Gross operating profit  5,341,166 5,073,226 

Other operating income 5      604,554   2,172,352 

    5,945,720   7,245,578 

Distribution and marketing expenses  (     737,032) (     866,431) 

Administrative expenses (  1,258,426) (  1,217,276) 

Employee benefits (expense)/income 13(i)(d),13(ii)(c) (       11,900)        22,600 

  (  2,007,358) (  2,061,107) 

Profit before income tax 6 3,938,362 5,184,471 

Income tax 7(a) (     995,402) (  1,181,296) 

Profit for the year     2,942,960   4,003,175 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Remeasurement loss on obligation 13(i)(e),13(ii)(d) (      428,800) (     208,900)  
Remeasurement loss on plan assets 13(i)(e) (             400) (       56,000) 
Change in effect of asset ceiling 13(i)(e) 379,000 242,300 
Income tax on other comprehensive income          71,623 (       24,854) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax         21,423 (       47,454) 

Total comprehensive income for the year    2,964,383   3,955,721 

Profit attributable to: 
Non-controlling interests  46 3,183 
Stockholders’ interests 8   2,942,914   3,999,992 

    2,942,960   4,003,175 

Total comprehensive income attributed to: 
Non-controlling interests  46 3,183 
Stockholders in parent    2,964,337   3,952,538 

    2,964,383   3,955,721 

Earnings per ordinary stock unit 8      606.24¢      824.00¢  

Arising from: 
 Normal operations      606.24¢ 547.85¢  
 Non-routine transactions (see note 5), net of tax          -               276.15¢  

        606.24¢      824.00¢  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Group Statement of Profit or Loss & Other Comprehensive Income
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Year ended March 31, 2015

4
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2015  

 Notes 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

Operating revenue  4 11,208,369 10,342,006 

Cost of operating revenue  (  5,867,203) (  5,268,780) 

Gross operating profit  5,341,166 5,073,226 

Other operating income  5   2,003,520      894,871 

   7,344,686 5,968,097 

Administrative, distribution and marketing 
 expenses  (  1,991,639) (  2,074,722) 

Employee benefits (expense)/income  13(i)(d),13(ii)(c) (       11,900)        22,600 

Profit before income tax 6 5,341,147 3,915,975 

Income tax 7(d) (     987,645) (     713,297)  

Profit for the year     4,353,502   3,202,678 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Remeasurement loss on obligation 13(i)(e),13(ii)(d) (     428,800) (     208,900) 
Remeasurement loss on plan assets 13(i)(e) (            400) (       56,000) 
Change in effect of asset ceiling 13(i)(e) 379,000 242,300 
Income tax on other comprehensive income         12,550          5,650 

Other comprehensive loss net of tax  (       37,650) (       16,950) 

 Total comprehensive income for the year    4,315,852   3,185,728 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Profit or Loss & Other Comprehensive Income
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

March 31, 2015
Group Statement of financial Position
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

March 31, 2015
Company Statement of financial Position
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Year ended March 31, 2015
Group Statement of Changes in equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Statement of Changes in equity cont’d
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Year ended March 31, 2015

8
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2015  

  Share  Capital  
  capital Unappropriated reserves 
  (note 15)  profits  (note 16) Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balances at March 31, 2013 121,360 1,603,583 22,322 1,747,265

Profit for the year       -       3,202,678      -      3,202,678 
Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   asset and obligation, net of tax       -       (     16,950)      -      (     16,950)

Total comprehensive income for the year        -       3,185,728      -      3,185,728

Dividends and distributions (note 21), being 
 total transactions with owners       -       (3,417,498)      -      (3,417,498)

Balances at March 31, 2014 121,360 1,371,813 22,322 1,515,495

Profit for the year       -       4,353,502      -      4,353,502 
Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   asset and obligation, net of tax       -       (     37,650)      -      (     37,650)

Total comprehensive income for the year        -       4,315,852      -      4,315,852

Dividends and distributions (note 21), being 
 total transactions with owners       -       (3,927,210)      -      (3,927,210)

Balances at March 31, 2015 121,360 1,760,455 22,322 1,904,137

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Changes in equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Year ended March 31, 2015

9
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Group Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2015  

2015 2014 
 Notes $'000 $'000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities 

 Profit for the year  2,942,960 4,003,175 
 Adjustments for: 

 Depreciation 14 65,887 50,556 
  Employee benefits 71,900 38,700 
  Income tax expense 7 995,402 1,181,296 
  Foreign exchange gains 5 (     45,591) (     88,953) 
  Gain on disposal of property, plant and  
     equipment  5 (   357,648) (       1,502) 
  Investment income earned 5 (   146,141) (   174,719) 

   3,526,769 5,008,553 
 Changes in: 

Accounts receivable 299,587 (1,335,532) 
Income tax recoverable 883,425 544,860 
Inventories 106,993 103,873 
Accounts payable      94,196 (   196,341) 

Cash generated from operations 4,910,970 4,125,413 
Income tax paid (   921,850) (1,579,093) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 3,989,120 2,546,320 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 Resale agreements, net -       1,565,043 
 Investment income received      150,575    176,194 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 14 (   158,200) (   101,294) 
 Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment    406,337        6,258 

  Net cash provided by investing activities    398,712 1,646,201 

Cash flows from financing activities 
 Dividends and distributions, being net cash used by 
    financing activities 21 (3,930,709) (3,418,898) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
 before effect of foreign exchange rate changes 457,123 773,623 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 45,591 88,953 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,222,035 2,359,459 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 3,724,749 3,222,035 
   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Group Statement of Cash flows
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Year ended March 31, 2015

10
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Company Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2015  

2015 2014 
 Notes $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 Profit for the year   4,353,502 3,202,678 
 Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 14 65,887 50,556 
Employee benefits 71,900 38,700 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and  

equipment 5 (   357,648) (       1,502) 
Foreign exchange gains 5 (     21,938) (     35,366) 
Income tax expense 7 987,645 713,297 
Investment income earned 5 (   132,466) (   163,534) 

   4,966,882 3,804,829 
Changes in: 

Accounts receivable 298,680 (   460,581) 
Income tax recoverable 1,519 (     11,105) 
Inventories 106,993 103,873 
Accounts payable (   461,672)    670,775 

Cash generated from operations 4,912,402 4,107,791 
Income tax paid (   921,990) (1,555,018) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 3,990,412 2,552,773 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 Investments, net       -        1,539,452 
 Investment income received 136,755 165,108 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 14 (   158,200) (   101,294) 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    406,337        6,258 

  Net cash provided by investing activities    384,892 1,609,524 

Cash flows from financing activities 
 Dividends and distributions, being net cash used by 
    financing activities 21 (3,927,210) (3,417,498) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
 before effect of foreign exchange rate changes 448,094 744,799 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 21,938 35,366 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,630,845 1,850,680 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 3,100,877 2,630,845 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Cash flows
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

March 31, 2015

  11 
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2015  

1. Identification and principal activity

 Carreras Limited (“the company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and is listed on the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange. It is a 50.4% subsidiary of Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited, which is 
incorporated in St. Lucia. The ultimate parent company is British American Tobacco plc, incorporated in 
the United Kingdom and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the company 
are the marketing and distribution of cigarettes.    

The address of the principal place of business and the registered office of the company is 13A Ripon 
Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica. 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act. 

 New and revised standards and interpretations that became effective during the year 

Certain new IFRS, interpretations of, and amendments to, existing standards which were in issue, 
came into effect for the current financial year.  That which management considered relevant to the 
company are as follows: 

(i) Amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12- Disclosure of 
Interest in Other Entities and IAS 27- Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements is 
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The amendments 
define an investment entity and require a parent that is an investment entity to measure its 
investments in particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss, instead of 
consolidating those subsidiaries in its financial statements. In addition, the amendments 
introduce new disclosure requirement related to investment entities in IFRS 12, Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements.  Management 
reviewed the definition of an investment entity and has determined that none of its related 
entities fall within that definition. 

(ii) IFRIC 21, Levies, which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014 provides guidance on accounting for levies in accordance with the requirements of 
IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The interpretation 
defines a levy as an outflow from an entity imposed by a government in accordance with 
legislation. It requires an entity to recognise a liability for a levy when and only when the 
triggering event specified in the legislation occurs.  This standard did not have any material 
impact on the financial statements. 

(iii) Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
financial Assets, which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2014, reverse the unintended requirement in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, to disclose 
the recoverable amount of every cash-generating unit to which significant goodwill or 
indefinite-lived intangible assets have been allocated. The amendment requires the 
recoverable amount to be disclosed only when an impairment loss has been recognised or 
reversed.  This standard did not have any material impact on the financial statements. 

Notes to the financial Statements
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d): 

New and revised standards and interpretations that are not yet effective 

At the date of approval of the financial statements, certain new and revised standards and 
interpretations were in issue but are not yet effective and have not been early-adopted.  
Management has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and 
interpretations with respect to its operations and discloses as follows: 

 IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, including a new expected credit loss model 
for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting 
requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of 
financial instruments from IAS 39. Although the permissible measurement bases for 
financial assets – amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
and fair value though profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for 
classification into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.  IFRS 9 
replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, which 
means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment allowance is 
recognised.   

 IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective for periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2017.  It replaces IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 
13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers and SIC-31 Revenue – Barter
Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new standard applies to contracts with 
customers. However, it does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease 
contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if two companies in 
the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate sales to other parties. 
Furthermore, if a contract with a customer is partly in the scope of another IFRS, then the 
guidance on separation and measurement contained in the other IFRS takes precedence.

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortisation, are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2016.

 The amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment explicitly states that 
revenue-based methods of depreciation cannot be used. This is because such methods 
reflect factors other than the consumption of economic benefits embodied in the assets. 

 The amendment to IAS 38, Intangible Assets introduces a rebuttable presumption that 
the use of revenue-based amortisation methods is in appropriate for intangible assets. 

 Amendments to IAS 27, Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements, effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016 allow the use of the equity method 
in separate financial statements, and apply to the accounting for subsidiaries, associates, and 
joint ventures. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and IAS 28, Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures, in respect of Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint venture, are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  The amendments require that when a parent loses 
control of a subsidiary in a transaction with an associate or joint venture,  the full gain be 
recognized when the assets transferred meet the definition of a ‘business’ under IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations.
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d): 

New and revised standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (cont’d) 

 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2016, has been amended to clarify or state the following: 

- specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be presented even if they 
are a minimum requirement of a standard 

- the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed.   
- line items on the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income (OCI) should be disaggregated if this provides helpful 
information to users.  Line items can be aggregated if they are not material. 

- specific criteria is now provided for presenting subtotals on the statement of financial 
position and in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, with additional reconciliation 
requirement requirements for the statement of profit or loss and OCI. 

- the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method follows the IAS 1 approach of splitting 
items that may, or that will never, be reclassified to profit or loss. 

 Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests 
in Other Entities and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, have been amended to introduce 
clarifications on which subsidiaries of an investment entity are consolidated instead of being 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.  IFRS 10 was amended to confirm that the 
exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements is available to a parent entity that 
is a subsidiary of an investment entity.  An investment entity shall measure at fair value 
through profit or loss all of its subsidiaries that are themselves investment entities.  IAS 28
was amended to provide an exemption from applying the equity method for investment 
entities that are subsidiaries and that hold interests in associates and joint ventures.  IFRS 12 
was amended to clarify that the relevant disclosure requirements in the standard apply to an 
investment entity in which all of its subsidiaries are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss.

 Improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles contain amendments to certain 
standards and interpretations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
July 1, 2014. The main amendments applicable to the company are as follows: 

 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement is amended to clarify that issuing of the standard and 
consequential amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9 did not intend to prevent entities from 
measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated interest rate at their 
invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not discounting is immaterial. 

 IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets. The standards 
have been amended to clarify that, at the date of revaluation: 

(i) the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the 
revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated depreciation 
(amortization) is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the carrying amount of the asset after taking account of accumulated 
impairment losses or 

(ii) the accumulated depreciation (amortization) is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d): 

New and revised standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (cont’d) 

 Improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 cycles (cont’d): 

 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures has been amended to extend the definition of ‘related 
party’ to include a management entity that provides key management personnel services 
to the reporting entity, either directly or through a group entity.  For related party 
transactions that arise when key management personnel services are provided to a 
reporting entity, the reporting entity is required to separately disclose the amounts that it 
has recognized as an expense for those services that are provided by a management 
entity; however, it is not required to ‘look through’ the management entity and disclose 
compensation paid by the management entity to the individuals providing the key 
management personnel services. 

 IAS 40, Investment Property has been amended to clarify that an entity should assess 
whether an acquired property is an investment property under IAS 40 and perform a 
separate assessment under IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the 
investment property constitutes a business combination. 

 Amendments to IAS 19, Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions, effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014, clarified the requirements that relate 
to how contributions from employees or third parties that are linked to services should 
be attributed to periods of services. In addition, it permits a practical expedient if the 
amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service. 

 Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 cycle, contain amendments to certain standards and 
interpretations and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
The main amendments applicable to the group are as follows: 

 IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations has been 
amended to clarify that if an entity changes the method of disposal of an asset or 
disposal group – i.e., reclassifies an asset or disposal group from held-for-distribution to 
owners to held-for-sale or vice versa without any time lag, then the change in 
classification is considered a continuation of the original plan of disposal and the entity 
continues to apply held-for-distribution or held-for-sale accounting.  At the time of the 
change in method, the entity measures the carrying amount of the asset or disposal 
group and recognizes any write-down (impairment loss) or subsequent increase in the 
fair value less costs to sell/distribute of the asset or disposal group.  If an entity 
determines that an asset or disposal group no longer meets the criteria to be classified as 
held-for-distribution, then it ceases held-for-distribution accounting in the same way as 
it would cease held-for-sale accounting. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d): 

 Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 cycle (cont’d) 

 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has been amended to clarify when 
servicing arrangements are in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing 
involvement in transferred assets in cases when they are derecognized in their entirety.  
A servicer is deemed to have continuing involvement if it has an interest in the future 
performance of the transferred asset, e.g., if the servicing fee is dependent on the 
amount or timing of the cash flows collected from the transferred financial asset; 
however, the collection and remittance of cash flows from the transferred asset to the 
transferee is not, in itself, sufficient to be considered ‘continuing involvement’. 

IFRS 7 has also been amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by 
Disclosures: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IFRS 
7) are not specifically required for inclusion in condensed interim financial statements 
for all interim periods; however, they are required if the general requirements of IAS 
34, Interim Financial Reporting, require their inclusion. 

 IAS 19, Employee Benefits, has been amended to clarify that high-quality corporate 
bonds or government bonds used in determining the discount rate should be issued in 
the same currency in which the benefits are to be paid.  Consequently, the depth of the 
market for high-quality corporate bonds should be assessed at the currency level and not 
the country level. 

Management is assessing the impact, if any, that the amendments and new standards will have on 
its 2016-19 financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation: 

The financial statements are presented on the historical cost basis. Unless otherwise stated, the 
financial statements are presented in thousands of Jamaica dollars ($’000), which is the functional 
currency of the company. 

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements: 

 The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and the Act requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and the reported amounts of, and disclosures related to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.  
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and/or various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual amounts could differ 
from these estimates. 

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d): 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty: 

 Employee benefits: 

 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income for pension and other post-employment benefits are 
determined actuarially using several assumptions. The primary assumptions used in 
determining the amounts recognised include the discount rate used to determine the present 
value of estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension and other post-
employment obligations and the expected rate of increase in medical costs for post-
employment medical benefits. 

 Any changes in these assumptions would impact the amounts recorded in the financial 
statements for these obligations. 

 Allowance for losses: 

In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses on receivables in the financial 
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, 
whether there are indicators that there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from resale agreements and receivables, for example, default and adverse 
economic conditions.  Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash 
flows of impaired receivables as well as the timing of such cash flows.  Historical loss 
experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not observable on individual 
significant receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks. 

It is reasonably possible that outcomes within the next financial year that are different from these 
assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount reflected in the financial 
statements. 

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits 
from its activities.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

The consolidated financial statements combine the financial position of the company and its 
subsidiaries as at March 31, 2015 and their results of operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended, after eliminating significant intra-group amounts. The company and its subsidiaries are 
collectively referred to in the financial statements as “the Group”. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits with banks.  Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments, rather than for investment or other purposes.  The amounts included are 
short-term fixed deposits. 



Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
March 31, 2015

55
New Beginnings...Annual Report 2015

17
CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(c) Accounts receivable: 

Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost, less impairment losses [see note 3(p)]. 

 (d) Accounts payable: 

  Accounts payable are stated at amortised cost. 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be estimated reliably.  If the 
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

 (e) Inventories: 

  Inventories comprising finished products are valued at the lower of cost, determined principally 
on the weighted average cost basis, and net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. 

 (f) Investment in subsidiaries: 

  The company’s investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost. 

(g) Related parties: 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”). 

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person: 

(a) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

(b) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent 
of the reporting entity; 

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means 
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 
the third entity. 

(e) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 
the third entity. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(g) Related parties (cont’d): 

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies (cont’d): 

(f) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity 
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity. 

(g) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled, by a person identified in (i). 

(h) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 
entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

The company has related party relationships with its ultimate parent company, British American 
Tobacco plc (BAT) and other subsidiaries and affiliates of the BAT Group, its subsidiaries, 
directors and key management personnel and companies with common directors, and its pension 
scheme. “Key management personnel” comprises the group’s leadership team which includes 
executive directors and specified senior officers. 

 (h) Property, plant and equipment: 

 Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

  Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of 
replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the part will flow to the 
group and its cost can be reliably measured. 

  The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

  With the exception of freehold land and work-in-progress, on which no depreciation is provided, 
property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of such assets, at the following annual rates: 

  Buildings 1.4% to 2.5% 
  Leasehold improvements 8% to 11% 
  Machinery, furniture and equipment 3.3% to 33.3% 
  Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3% 

  The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each 
reporting date. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(i) Income tax: 

Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is 
recognised in  profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(i) Current income tax: 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using 
tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax payable in 
respect of previous years. 

(ii) Deferred income tax: 

  Deferred income tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date. 

  A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

  A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the 
extent that the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

 (j) Foreign currencies: 

  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of 
those transactions. The group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the reporting date are translated to Jamaica dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at that date.  
Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss. 

 (k) Revenue recognition: 

  Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts, volume rebates and sales taxes. 

  Revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer, receipt of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing involvement with 
the goods. 

 (l) Other operating income: 

Other operating income is mainly comprised of interest income, gains on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment and refund of pension surplus.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
using the effective interest method.   

(m) Leases: 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n) Employee benefits: 

 Employee benefits comprising pensions and other post-employment assets and obligations 
included in these financial statements have been actuarially determined by a qualified 
independent actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report outlines the 
scope of the valuation and the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuations are conducted in 
accordance with IAS 19, and the financial statements reflect the group’s and the company’s post-
employment benefits assets and obligations as computed by the actuary. In carrying out their 
audit, the auditors make use of the work of the actuary and the actuary’s report. 

(i) Pension assets: 

The company and its subsidiaries are participating employers in a pension scheme, the 
assets of which are held separately from those of the group, and remain under the full 
control of the appointed trustees. 

The group’s net obligation in respect of its defined benefit pension scheme is calculated 
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods; that value is discounted to determine the present 
value, and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. To the extent that the 
obligation is less than the fair value of scheme assets, the asset recognised is restricted to 
the discounted value of unconditional future benefits available to the group in the form of 
any future refunds from the scheme or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable 
minimum funding requirements. The discount rate applied is the yield at the reporting 
date on long-term government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the 
terms of the group’s obligation. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using 
the projected unit credit method. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 
any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.  
The company determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset), taking into account any changes during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments.  Net interest expense and other expenses related to 
defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change 
in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.  The company recognises gains and losses on the settlement 
of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as 
an expense in profit or loss as incurred. 

 (ii) Other post-retirement health and group life insurance benefits: 

The group provides post-retirement health care and group life insurance benefits, which 
are not entitlements, to certain of its retirees. These benefits are usually conditional upon 
the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum 
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment, using a methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans and 
the present value of future benefits at the reporting date is shown as an obligation on the 
statement of financial position. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(n) Employee benefits (cont’d): 

 (ii) Other post-retirement health and group life insurance benefits (cont’d): 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in a manner similar to the defined benefit 
pension plan. 

(iii) Other employee benefits: 

Employee leave entitlements are recognised as they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for vacation and sick leave, as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the reporting date. 

(o) Impairment: 

  The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ 
recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

  An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount: 

   The recoverable amount of investments in loans and receivables is calculated as the 
present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate inherent in the asset.  An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale 
investment is calculated by reference to its current fair value.  Receivables with a short 
duration are not discounted. 

   
   The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in 

use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

(ii) Reversals of impairment: 

 An impairment loss in respect of receivables is reversed if the subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. 

 In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

  Reversal of impairment losses is recognised in profit or loss, except for available-for-sale 
equity securities, which is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2015  

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p) Determination of profit or loss: 

 Profit is determined as the difference between the revenues from the goods and services rendered 
and the costs and other charges incurred during the year.  Profits on transactions are taken in the 
year in which they are realised.  A transaction is realised at the moment of delivery.  Losses are 
taken in the year in which they are realised or determinable.  

 (q) Segment reporting: 

  A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing 
products (business segment), or in providing products within a particular economic environment 
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of 
other segments. 

  The group’s activities are limited to the distribution of cigarettes to Jamaican consumers, 
operating in a single segment  As such no additional segment information is provided. 

 (r) Financial instruments: 

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purpose of these financial 
statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable.  Similarly, financial liabilities mainly comprise accounts payable. 

(s) Fair value: 

Definition of fair value: 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Market price is used to 
determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a 
financial instrument.    

Determination of fair value: 

The company’s financial instruments lack an available trading market. The fair value of all 
financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities are considered to 
approximate their carrying values, due to their short-term nature.  The fair values of amounts due 
from and due to subsidiary companies are assumed to approximate carrying values.   

 (t) Dividends and distributions: 

  Dividends and distributions are recognised in the period in which they are declared. 

4. Operating revenue

 Operating revenue for the group and the company represents the invoiced value of products and services 
sold and includes special consumption tax aggregating $4,813,790,000 (2014: $4,342,554,000). 
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5. Other operating income 
    The Group   The Company  

2015 2014 2015 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 Interest income: 
  Cash and cash equivalents 146,141 172,845 132,466 163,534 
  Resale agreements -       1,874 -       -       
 Exchange gains 45,591 88,953 21,938 35,366 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment 357,648 1,502 357,648 1,502 
 Intra-group capital distribution, net -       -        1,436,640 574,656 
 Unclaimed dividends written back (note 12) 34,696 67,304 34,696 67,304 
 Interest on tax recoverable (note 24)* -       1,787,365 -       -       
 Miscellaneous income   20,478      52,509      20,132   52,509 

  604,554 2,172,352 2,003,520 894,871 

 *Non-routine transactions (see note 8). 

6. Profit before income tax

 The following are among the items charged in arriving at profit before income tax: 

    The Group   The Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Depreciation 65,887 50,556 65,887 50,556 
 Auditors' remuneration 7,279 6,731 6,650 6,159 
 Directors’ emoluments:  
 Fees 5,474 6,099 5,474 6,099 
 Management remuneration 45,136 42,570 45,136 42,570 

7. Income tax

The Group: 

(a) Income tax is computed at 25% of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is 
made up as follows: 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

 Current: 
  Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,014,504 1,067,255 
 Adjustment in respect of prior year’s provision        2,632 (   105,198) 

  1,017,136 962,057 
 Deferred: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
     [note 17(b)]  (     21,734)    219,239 

     995,402 1,181,296 
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7. Income tax (cont’d) 

 (b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge: 

 The Group (cont’d): 
  2015 2014 
   $'000  $'000 

 Profit before taxation  3,938,362  5,184,471 

 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25%  984,591    1,296,118 
 Taxation difference between profit for financial 
  statements and tax reporting purposes on – 
  Effect of tax losses   -          304 
  Depreciation and capital allowances  11,075 11,238 
  Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment  (19,269) (          668) 
  Foreign exchange gains  2,675  6,949 
  Prior year under/(over) provision    2,632  (   105,198) 
  Capital income/(expense)  12,655  (     16,826) 
  Effect of change in tax rate  -          (     30,045) 
  Other adjustments         1,043       19,424 

 Actual tax charge     995,402  1,181,296 

 Effective tax rate     25.27%     22.79%  

 (c) At March 31, 2015 taxation losses in subsidiaries, subject to agreement by Tax Administration 
Jamaica, amounted to approximately $777,570,000 (2014: $777,622,000).  These losses may be 
carried forward indefinitely.  The amount that can be utilised in any one assessment year is 
restricted to 50% of chargeable income (before prior year losses) of that assessment year.  

The Company: 

 (d) Income tax is computed at 25% of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is 
made up as follows: 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

 Current: 
  Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,001,020 828,499 
 Adjustment in respect of prior year’s provision        2,632 (   105,198) 

   1,003,652 723,301 
 Deferred: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
     [note 17(b)] (     16,007) (     10,004) 

     987,645    713,297 
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7. Income tax (cont’d) 

 (e) Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge: 
  2015 2014 
   $'000  $'000 

 Profit before taxation  5,341,147 3,915,975 

 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25%  1,335,287 978,994 
 Taxation difference between profit for financial 
  statements and tax reporting purposes on – 
  Depreciation and capital allowances  11,075 11,238 
  Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment  (     19,269) (          668) 
  Prior year under/(over) provision  2,632 (   105,198) 
  Capital income, net  (   346,505) (   141,066) 
  Effect of change in tax rate  -        (     30,003) 
  Disallowed items         4,425          -        

 Actual tax charge     987,645    713,297 

 Effective tax rate     18.49%    18.22% 

8. Earnings per ordinary stock unit

 Earnings per ordinary stock unit is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to stockholders by the 
485,440,000 stock units in issue in both 2015 and 2014, as follows: 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

 Profit for the year attributable to stockholders from normal operations 2,942,914 2,659,468 
 Effect of non-routine transactions (see note 5), net of tax         -        1,340,524 

  2,942,914 3,999,992 

9. Cash and cash equivalents 

  The Group   The Company  
  2015 2014 2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Demand and call deposits 1,993,766 1,487,961 1,376,936 903,538 
 Short-term fixed deposits 1,730,983 1,734,074 1,723,941 1,727,307 

  3,724,749 3,222,035 3,100,877 2,630,845 
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10. Accounts receivable
    The Group     The Company  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Trade accounts receivable 424,312 595,002 424,312 595,002 
 Interest receivable 5,715 10,149 5,715 10,004 
 Interest receivable on tax recoverable (note 24) 875,365 875,365 -       -       
 Prepayments 44,535 47,127 44,535 47,127 

 Other receivables and advances:   
   Related parties 539 122,915 539 122,915 

 Other         3,196        9,107    3,051     8,055 

  1,353,662 1,659,665 478,152 783,103 
 Less: Allowance for impairment losses (       8,309) (     10,291) (    8,309) (  10,291) 

  1,345,353 1,649,374 469,843 772,812 

During the year, net bad debts recognised in profit or loss aggregated $1,982,000 (credit) (2014: 
$2,703,000) for the group and the company. 

The group and the company’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to 
trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 20. 

11. Income tax recoverable 

    The Group   The Company  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Taxes withheld 422,289 359,723 45,514 47,033 
 Income tax recoverable (note 24)          -          945,991      -               -         

     422,289 1,305,714   45,514     47,033 

12. Accounts payable
   The Group   The Company   

   2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Trade accounts payable 85,780 82,009 85,780 82,009 
 General consumption tax payable 74,739 46,831 74,739 46,831 
 Related parties 201,660 127,191 518,595 998,337 
 Employee related 20,219 113,581 20,219 113,581 
 Unclaimed dividends* 661,854 655,961 658,218 653,912 
 Other    236,317    160,800    223,888    148,441 

  1,280,569 1,186,373 1,581,439 2,043,111 

*Article 117 of the Articles of Association provides that dividends declared after the date of adoption of 
this Article which remain unclaimed after a period of twelve years from the date of declaration shall be 
forfeited and revert to the Company (see also note 5). 
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13. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation

The Carreras Group Limited Superannuation Scheme (“the old scheme”) was discontinued with effect 
from  December 31, 2006 and is being wound up in accordance with the rules, applicable legislation 
and subject to the oversight of the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”).  Benefit improvements 
have been agreed for the pensioners, deferred pensioners and active members of the old scheme.   

A replacement fund, the Carreras Limited Superannuation Fund (“the new fund”) was established with 
effect from January 1, 2007.  The new fund is divided into two sections – a defined benefit (DB) 
section and a defined contribution (DC) section.  The employees who were members of the old scheme 
are now participating in the DB section of the new fund whilst the individuals employed after 
December 31, 2006, are participating in the DC section of the new fund.

The liabilities in respect of current pensioners and deferred pensioners, who opted to transfer the value 
of their pension entitlement in the old scheme to the DB section of the new fund to provide for all 
future pension payments, have been transferred to the DB section.  The liabilities in respect of the 
active members who became members of the new fund and opted to transfer the total or a part of their 
past service to the new fund have also been transferred. 

 The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position in respect of retirement benefits are as 
follows:  

  The Group and the Company 
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 

Pension benefits  (   260,600) (   349,300) 
Post employment health and group life insurance benefit     227,500    194,100 

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows: 

(i) Pension benefits:  

(a) Asset recognised in the statement of financial position:  

  The Group and the Company 
    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

  Present value of funded obligations 3,156,000 2,680,700  
  Fair value of plan assets (3,888,000) (3,806,600)  

  Present value of net obligations (   732,000) (1,125,900)  
  Unrecognised amount due to limitation    471,400    776,600  

  Asset recognised in statement of financial position (   260,600) (   349,300) 

(b) Movements in the net asset recognised in the statement of financial position: 

  The Group and the Company  
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 

 Net asset at beginning of the year (   349,300) (   409,500) 
 Contributions paid (       5,400) (       6,900) 
 Refund from old scheme  75,400 77,700 
 Expense/(income) recognised in the statement of  
    profit or loss and other comprehensive income      18,700 (     10,600) 

 Net asset at end of the year (   260,600) (   349,300) 
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13. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d) 

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(i) Pension benefits (cont’d):  

(c) Movements in plan assets: 
  The Group and the Company  
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 

  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 3,806,600 3,759,400 
  Interest income on plan assets 350,100 364,800 
 Contributions paid 12,600 16,100 
 Benefits paid (   205,500) (   200,000) 
 Refund from old scheme (     75,400) (     77,700) 
 Remeasurement loss on assets (          400) (     56,000) 

 Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 3,888,000 3,806,600 

  The Group and the Company  
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 

Plan assets consist of the following: 
Equities 549,600 530,300 
Real property 635,500 571,700 
Resale agreements 2,268,800 2,700,800 
Corporate bonds 330,600 -        
Leased assets 600 1,900 
Net current assets    102,900        1,900 

 3,888,000 3,806,600 

(d) Income recognised in profit for the year: 
   The Group and the Company  
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 

  Current service costs 24,800 25,800 
  Interest cost on obligation 247,200 235,600 
 Interest income on assets (   350,100) (   364,800) 
 Interest on effect of asset ceiling 73,800   92,600 
 Gain on curtailment (       8,500) (     30,600)  

   (     12,800) (     41,400) 

(e) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 
    

 Change in effect of asset ceiling (   379,000) (   242,300) 
 Remeasurement loss on plan assets 400 56,000 
 Remeasurement loss on obligation    410,100    217,100 

       31,500      30,800 
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13. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(i) Pension benefits (cont’d): 

(f) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 

  2015 2014 
  % % 

  Discount rate  9.5 9.5 
  Future salary increases 7.0 6.5 

Future pension increases 6.0 5.5 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on PA (90) Tables with ages reduced by 
five years (2014: six years). The expected long-term rate of return is based on the assumed 
long-term rate of inflation.   

At March 31, 2015, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 15 
years (2014: 14 years). 

(g) Sensitivity analysis of principal actuarial assumptions: 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial 
assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have increased/(decreased) the 
defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below. 

The Group and the Company 
     One One  
    percentage percentage 
    point increase point decrease 

    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

Discount rate   (395,800) 502,900 
Salary increases   36,700 (  31,900) 
Pension adjustments   461,400 (368,600) 

Impact on defined benefit obligation of a one year increase/decrease in life expectancy: 

 The defined benefit obligation would increase/decrease by about $89,300,000 and 
$95,800,000, respectively. 

(h) Plan assets include ordinary stock units issued by the company with a fair value of 
$125,613,000 (2014: $107,554,000).   

 (ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits: 

(a) Liability recognised in the statement of financial position: 
The Group and the Company 

    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

 Present value of unfunded obligations,  
    being liability recognised in statement  
  of financial position   227,500 194,100 
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13. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits (cont’d): 

(b) Movements in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial position: 

The Group and the Company 
    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

 Net liability at the beginning of the year 194,100 193,000 
Contributions paid  (  10,000) (    9,500) 
Expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

 and other comprehensive income    43,400   10,600 

 Net liability at the end of the year  227,500 194,100 

(c) Expense recognised in profit for the year: 
The Group and the Company 

    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

 Current service costs 6,600 7,000 
 Interest on obligation  18,600 19,300 
 Gain on curtailment  (       500) (    7,500)  

      24,700   18,800 

(d) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 
The Group and the Company 

    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

 Remeasurement loss/(gain) on obligation 18,700 (  8,200) 

(e) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 

  2015 2014 
    % % 

   Discount rate  9.5 9.5 
   Annual increase in health-care costs      8.0       8.0  

Actuarial assumptions regarding mortality, inflation, etc., follows the same basis on those 
outlined in note 13(i)(f). 

(f) Sensitivity analysis of principal actuarial assumptions: 

 Reasonably possible changes to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 
assumptions constant, would have increased/(decreased) the defined benefit obligation by the 
amounts shown below: 

   The Group and the Company  
     One percentage One percentage 
   point increase  point decrease 
   2015 2015 
    $'000 $'000 

  Discount rate    (29,800) 38,000 
  Medical cost trend rate     37,300 (29,200) 
  Future salary growth       400 (     300)  
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13. Employee benefits (asset)/obligation (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits (cont’d): 

Impact on post-employment obligation of a one year increase/decrease in life expectancy: 

The post-employment obligation would increase/decrease by about $7,200,000 and $7,100,000 
respectively.

14. Property, plant and equipment

 The Group: 
  Freehold land,  Machinery, furniture, 
  buildings and Work- equipment 
   leaseholds  in-progress and vehicles Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 Cost: 
  March 31, 2013 89,183 2,543 388,720 480,446 
  Additions     -      101,294     -       101,294 
  Transfers 15,550 (  87,243) 71,693 -      
  Disposals      -      (       280) (  21,231) (  21,511) 

  March 31, 2014 104,733 16,314 439,182 560,229 
  Additions 17,609 135,241 5,350 158,200 
  Transfers 84,877 (135,165) 50,288 -      
  Disposals (  77,020) (       115) (  84,169) (161,304)

  March 31, 2015 130,199   16,275 410,651 557,125 

 Depreciation: 
 March 31, 2013 55,983       -       265,813 321,796 
  Charge for the year 6,530       -       44,026 50,556 
  Eliminated on disposals       -             -       (  16,755) (  16,755) 

 March 31, 2014 62,513       -       293,084 355,597 
  Charge for the year 7,833       -        58,054 65,887 
  Eliminated on disposals (  49,076)       -       (  63,539) (112,615)

 March 31, 2015   21,270       -       287,599 308,869 

 Net book values: 
  March 31, 2015 108,929   16,275 123,052 248,256

  March 31, 2014   42,220   16,314 146,098 204,632 

Freehold land, buildings and leaseholds for the Group and the Company include freehold land in the 
amount of $42,000 (2014: $342,000). 
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14. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 

 The Company: 
  Freehold land,  Machinery, 
  buildings and Work- furniture, equipment 
   leaseholds  in-progress and vehicles Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 Cost: 
  March 31, 2013 89,183   2,543 331,488 423,214 
  Additions       -       101,294      -       101,294 
  Transfers 15,550 (  87,243) 71,693      -       
  Disposals       -       (       280) (  21,231) (  21,511) 

  March 31, 2014 104,733   16,314 381,950 502,997 
  Additions 17,609 135,241 5,350 158,200 
  Transfers 84,877 (135,165) 50,288      -       
  Disposals (  77,020) (       115) (  84,169) (161,304) 

  March 31, 2015 130,199   16,275 353,419 499,893  

 Depreciation: 
  March 31, 2013   49,140       -       208,387 257,527  
  Charge for the year 6,530       -       44,026 50,556 
  Eliminated on disposals       -             -       (  16,755) (  16,755)  

  March 31, 2014   55,670       -       235,658 291,328  
  Charge for the year 7,833       -       58,054 65,887 
  Eliminated on disposals (  49,076)       -       (  63,539) (112,615)  

  March 31, 2015   14,427       -       230,173 244,600  

Net book values: 

  March 31, 2015 115,772   16,275 123,246 255,293  

  March 31, 2014   49,063   16,314 146,292 211,669  

15. Share capital
2015 2014
$'000 $'000 

 Authorised: 
485,440,000 (2014: 485,440,000) ordinary shares of 

no par value 

Stated:
 Issued and fully paid: 
 485,440,000 (2014: 485,440,000) stock units of no par value  121,360 121,360 
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16. Other reserves
  The Group   The Company  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Capital 22,322 22,322 22,322 22,322 

 This represents residual capital distribution on which transfer tax has been paid. 

17. Deferred tax asset/(liability)

 (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

The Group: 
    Assets   Liabilities   Net  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Deferred tax on reserves of 
 subsidiary in liquidation      -          -      (  56,247) (115,320) (  56,247) (115,320) 
 Accounts payable 1,785 3,130      -           -      1,785 3,130 
 Property, plant and equipment 101 4,029      -           -            101 4,029 
 Employee benefits 56,875 48,525 (  65,150) (  87,325) (    8,275) (  38,800) 
 Accounts receivable -          -      (220,569) (221,378) (220,569) (221,378) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange 
    gain       -          -      (    5,145) (  13,368) (    5,145) (  13,368) 

  58,761 55,684 (347,111) (437,391) (288,350) (381,707) 

 The Company: 

    Assets   Liabilities   Net  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 Accounts payable 1,785 3,130      -      -       1,785 3,130 
 Property, plant and equipment 101 4,029      -           -       101 4,029 
 Employee benefits 56,875 48,525 (65,150) (  87,325) (8,275) (  38,800)  
 Accounts receivable -          -      (  1,429) (    2,501) (1,429) (    2,501)  
 Unrealised foreign exchange 
    gain        -          -       (      741) (    2,974) (     741) (    2,974) 

  58,761 55,684 (67,320) (  92,800) (  8,559) (  37,116)  

 (b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows: 

   The Group: 
   2015  
  Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at 
  31.03.14 in equity  in income 31.03.15 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

  Deferred tax on reserves of  
  subsidiary in liquidation (115,320) 59,073 -       (  56,247) 
 Accounts payable 3,130       -      (  1,345) 1,785 
 Property, plant and equipment 4,029       -      (  3,928)     101 
 Employee benefits (  38,800) 12,550 17,975 (    8,275) 
 Accounts receivable (221,378)       -      809 (220,569) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (  13,368)       -        8,223 (    5,145) 

   (381,707) 71,623 21,734 (288,350)  
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17. Deferred tax asset/(liability) (cont’d)

 (b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows (cont’d): 

   The Group (cont’d): 

   2014 
  Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at 
  31.03.13 in equity  in income 31.03.14 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

  Deferred tax on reserves of  
  subsidiary in liquidation (  84,816) (  30,504)      -      (115,320) 
 Accounts payable 3,749      -      (       619) 3,130 
 Property, plant and equipment 11,903      -      (    7,874) 4,029 
 Employee benefits (  64,950) 5,650 20,500 (  38,800) 
 Accounts receivable (    3,500)       -      (217,878) (221,378) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain       -             -       (  13,368) (  13,368)  

  (137,614) (  24,854) (219,239) (381,707)  

   The Company: 
   2015  
  Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at 
  31.03.14 in equity  in income 31.03.15 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Accounts payable 3,130        -      (    1,345) 1,785 
 Property, plant and equipment 4,029        -      (    3,928) 101 
 Employee benefits (  38,800) 12,550 17,975 (    8,275) 
 Accounts receivable (    2,501)        -      1,072 (    1,429) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (    2,974)        -           2,233 (       741)  

  (  37,116)   12,550    16,007 (    8,559)  

   2014 
  Balance at Recognised Recognised Balance at 
  31.03.13 in equity  in income 31.03.14 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Accounts payable 3,749        -      (       619) 3,130 
 Property, plant and equipment 11,903        -      (    7,874) 4,029 
 Employee benefits (  64,950) 5,650 20,500 (  38,800) 
 Accounts receivable (    3,472)        -           971 (    2,501) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain       -              -      (    2,974) (    2,974) 

  (  52,770)     5,650   10,004 (  37,116)

(c) The group has not recognised a deferred tax asset arising in subsidiaries amounting to $194,393,000 
(2014: $194,406,000) in respect of unutilised tax losses of subsidiaries because it is not probable 
that the subsidiaries will have sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future to realise this 
benefit [see note 7(c)]. 
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18. Related party transactions 

 The financial statements include the following transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of 
business. 

    The Group and the Company 
     2015 2014 
      $'000 $'000 

 Purchases from related companies - cigarettes 531,543 461,830 
 Technical fees paid to ultimate parent company   118,430 147,935 
 Technical fees paid to other related company   437,270 314,844 
 IT support fees paid to other related company   98,482 90,068 
 Pension schemes: 
 Lease of motor vehicles 1,513 11,408 
 Dividends paid 24,846 21,621 
 Key management personnel: 
  Short-term employee benefits     75,737 99,112
  Post-employment benefits   3,327 2,455 
  Other long-term benefits         -        16,747 

 All related party transactions were undertaken in the normal course business.  

19. Staff costs 
  The Group   The Company  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Salaries and related costs 441,952 469,702 441,952 469,702 
 Statutory payroll contributions   33,479   42,084   33,479   42,084 

    475,431 511,786 475,431 511,786 
 Cost of post-retirement benefits, net   22,609 (  13,206)   22,609 (  13,206) 

    498,040 498,580 498,040 498,580 

20. Financial instruments and risk management 

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 Credit risk 
 Liquidity risk 
 Market risk 

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the group’s and the company’s 
management of capital. 

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s and 
the company’s risk management framework.  Senior management has responsibility for monitoring the 
group’s risk management policies and report to delegates of the Board of Directors on its activities, on a 
monthly basis. 
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d) 

 The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management 
policies are reviewed on a regular basis and reflect changes in market conditions and the group’s 
activities. 

(i) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial contract failing to discharge 
its obligations, and arises principally from the group’s receivables from customers, cash and 
investment securities. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is represented by the carrying value of 
its financial assets. 

 The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. Management has established a credit policy under which each customer is analysed for 
creditworthiness prior to being offered a credit facility. Each customer is given a credit period 
which represents the maximum time allowed for having balances outstanding; these are reviewed 
monthly. Management has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the customers have 
not cleared outstanding debts within the credit period. Customers that fail to meet the group’s 
benchmark creditworthiness may transact business with the group on a cash basis. 

 Credit risk is monitored according to each customer’s characteristics, such as whether it is an 
individual or company, its geographic location, industry, aging profile, and financial history.  

The group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses 
in respect of trade receivables.

The group’s average credit period on the sale of goods is 28 days for certain established large 
(wholesale) customers and 7 days for other (retail) customers.  Trade receivables over 90 days are 
reviewed and an allowance recognised for impairment for based on an estimate of amounts that 
would not be recoverable, determined by taking into consideration past default experience, current 
economic conditions and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer 
was:

 The Group and the Company  
   2015 2014

     $'000 $'000  

Wholesale customers   279,094 365,499  
Retail customers   145,218 229,503  

   424,312 595,002  
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d) 

(i) Credit risk (cont’d): 

 Trade receivables (cont’d) 

 The age of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 

   The Group and the Company  
  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 
  2015 2015 2014 2014 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Not past due 383,995 -      506,881 -       
 Past due 7-30 days 26,769 -      66,332 -       
 Past due 31-365 days 10,949 (5,710) 13,123 (  1,625)  
 More than one year     2,599 (2,599)     8,666 (  8,666)  

  424,312 (8,309) 595,002 (10,291)  

 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was 
as follows: 

    2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 April   10,291 7,588 
Impairment loss recognised   6,795   2,703 
Bad debts recovered (  8,777)     -        

 Balance at 31 March    8,309 10,291 

Cash and investments 

Management has an investment policy in place and the group’s and the company’s exposure to 
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Cash and investments are held with financial 
institutions which management considers to be sound and financially strong.  As it regards 
securities purchased under resale agreements, management has a policy of obtaining collateral in 
the form of pledged Government of Jamaica instruments.   

(ii) Market risk: 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates, will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 

(a) Interest rate risk: 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. 
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk (cont’d): 

(a) Interest rate risk (cont’d): 

At the reporting date the interest profile of the company’s and the group’s interest-bearing 
financial instruments was entirely fixed rate. 

   The Group   The Company  
   2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Fixed rate instruments: 
  Cash and cash equivalents 3,724,749 3,222,035 3,100,877 2,630,845 

(b) Foreign currency risk: 

  The group incurs foreign currency risk primarily on purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the Jamaica dollar.  The principal foreign currency risks of the group, 
represented by balances in the respective currencies, are as follows: 

The Group: 
   2015   2014  

   US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£) 
   '000 '000 '000 '000 

Cash and cash equivalents  9,001 184 9,376 158 
Related party receivables  5 -    1,122 -    
Other receivables  -     -     3 -    
Related party payables (   713) (106) (   784) (232) 
Other payables (     45)   -    (     11)    -     

Exposure, net 8,248   78 9,706 (   74) 

The Company: 
   2015   2014  

   US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£) 
   '000 '000 '000 '000 

Cash and cash equivalents  4,257 36 4,693 13 
Related party receivables  5 -    1,122 -     
Other receivables      -     -    3 -     
Related party payables  (   713) (106) (   784) (  232) 
Other payables (     45)   -    (     11)    -      

Exposure, net 3,504 (  70) 5,023 (  219) 
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk (cont’d): 

(b) Foreign currency risk (cont’d): 

  Sensitivity analysis 

  Strengthening or weakening of the currencies against the Jamaica dollar would have 
increased/(decreased) profit by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all 
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.   

The Group: 
  2015   2014  
 Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit 

  10% 1% 10% 1% 
  Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

US ($) 94,888 (9,489) 106,353 (10,635) 
GBP (£)   1,326 (   133) (    1,348)      135 

The Company: 
  2015   2014  
 Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit 

  10% 1% 10% 1% 
  Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

US ($) 40,311 (4,031)   55,031 (5,503)  
GBP (£) (  1,190)    119 (    3,992)    399  

  Exchange rates, in terms of Jamaica dollars, were as follows: 

 US$ £ 

At March 31, 2014:  109.5744 181.7720 
At March 31, 2015:  115.0435 169.9738 
At May 27, 2015:  116.1089 177.8179 

(iii) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty 
in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity problems 
may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value.  Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and 
ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities.  The 
group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining a substantial portion of its financial assets in 
highly liquid assets. 
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20. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk (cont’d): 

 The contractual outflows as at March 31, 2015 and 2014 for trade accounts payable, General 
Consumption Tax payable, due to related parties, employee related payables, unclaimed dividends 
and other payables are represented by their carrying amounts and may require settlement within 
12 months of the reporting date. 

(iv) Capital management: 

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders. The Board of Directors monitors the return 
on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.   

There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year. Also, the 
group is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

(v) Fair value disclosure: 

 Due to their short term nature, the amounts reflected in the financial statements for cash and cash 
equivalents, resale agreements, accounts receivable, related party balances, and accounts payable 
are considered to approximate to their fair values.  Additionally, the cost of all monetary assets 
and liabilities has been appropriately adjusted to reflect estimated losses on realisation or 
discounts on settlement.   

21. Dividends and distributions
  2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 
 Declared and paid:    
 First quarter ended June 30, 2014 
  Special interim distribution June 30, 2013 – 94¢  -       456,314 
 Ordinary - 175¢ (2014: 130¢)   849,520 631,072 
 Second quarter ended September 30, 2014 
 Special interim distribution July 31, 2014 – 134¢  650,490 -      
 Ordinary - 120¢ (2014: 100¢)   582,528 485,440 
 Third quarter ended December 31, 2014 
 Special interim distribution December 18, 2014 - 100¢  485,440 -      
 Ordinary - 120¢ (2014: 100¢)   582,528 485,440 
 Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2015 
 Special interim distribution January 30, 2014 - 118¢  -        572,819 
 Ordinary - 160¢ (2014: 162¢)      776,704    786,413 

 Total dividends to stockholders   3,927,210 3,417,498 

 Distribution to non-controlling interests, net          3,499        1,400 

    3,930,709 3,418,898 
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22. Subsidiary companies

 The subsidiary companies, all of which are incorporated in Jamaica, are as follows: 

   Percentage of ordinary shares held by  
 Name of company Principal activity   Company   Subsidiary  
     2015 2014 2015 2014 
     % % % % 
 Cigarette Company of Jamaica Inactive (voluntary 
 Limited (In Voluntary Liquidation) liquidation in process) 99.99 99.99 -     -     
 Sans Souci Development  Dormant 100.00 100.00 -     -     
  Limited and its subsidiary,   
    Sans Souci Limited Dormant      -           -      100.00 100.00 

23. Contractual commitments

Lease commitments under operating leases at March 31, are payable as follows: 

   The Group and the Company 
    2015 2014 
    $'000 $'000 

 Within one year   37,553 10,859  
 Subsequent years   135,217 15,980  

    172,770 26,839  

 Payments made during the year ended March 31, 2015 aggregated: 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

 The Group and Company   27,718 17,980 

24. Tax assessment

In 2004, the company’s subsidiary, Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited (in voluntary liquidation) 
(“CCJ”) received assessments for income tax claimed by the Commissioner of Taxpayer Audit and 
Assessment, subsequently renamed Tax Administration Jamaica (TAJ), for the years 1997 to 2002 
amounting to $5.68 billion. CCJ appealed the assessment. Whilst the appeal was in progress, CCJ paid 
an amount of $1.73 billion to TAJ.  

On March 13, 2012, after a series of judgements and appeals in lower courts, the Judicial Committee of 
the Privy Council handed down its decision dismissing the appeal of the TAJ with costs to CCJ. These 
costs have been taxed and recovered. 

On December 30, 2013, the company reached an agreement with the TAJ and the Ministry of Finance 
& Planning (“the settlement agreement”), to recover the $1.73 billion plus interest of $1.78 billion on 
the outstanding sum. The interest receivable by CCJ has been fully recognised in these financial 
statements. 

During the year, TAJ continued refunds to CCJ by issuing offsets against the estimated tax liability of 
Carreras Limited in the aggregate amount of $2.64 billion (2014: $1.70 billion). The company expects 
to recover a further $0.87 billion over the next twelve months. 
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I/We…………………………………………………………………………………………   
 

           of……………………………………………………………………………………………  
  
being a Member/Members of Carreras Limited hereby appoint   

 
……………………………………………………………………………………  

           of        …………………………………………………………………………………... 
 
or failing him/her………………………………………………………………………….  
 
of……………………………………………………………………………………………  

 
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held on September 2, 2015 at 2 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  

 
 

SIGNED this…………….day of………………… ……………………. 2015.  

 
SIGNATURE OF SHAREHOLDER      …………………………………… 
  

 
RESOLUTIONS 

 

 
FOR 

 
AGAINST 

1   
2   
3 a     
3 b   
4    
5 (i)   
5 (ii)   

 
 
 

NOTES: 
                                                                                                                                                       

  1.      To be valid, this proxy must be deposited with the Registrar and Transfer 
           Office, Sagicor Bank Corporate Trust Service Unit, 28 – 48 Barbados  
           Avenue, Kingston 5, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for  
           holding the meeting.   

 

 
  2.      If the appointer is a Corporation, this form should be executed under Seal  
           in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Incorporation.  
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